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12 SUPPLEMENTARY REPORT ITEMS 
 
12.1 Audited Financial Statement 2024/25 and Final Management Report 
 

 

12.1 - Audited Financial Statement 2024/25 and Final Management Report 
  

MEETING DETAILS: Ordinary Council Meeting - Wednesday 24 September 2025 
AUTHOR: Coordinator Strategic Finance 
AUTHORISING OFFICER: Acting Director Corporate Services   

 PURPOSE 
To present the Audited Financial Statements for the 2024/25 Financial Year and to present 
the Final Management Report 2025 and opinion from the Queensland Audit Office.  

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
Following the completion of the External Audit of Councils 2024/25 Annual Financial 
Statements, this report seeks endorsement of Council for the Final Audited Financial 
Statements and Final Management Report and opinion from the Queensland Audit Office.  

OFFICER’S RECOMMENDATION 
That Council receive the Audited Financial Statements for the 2024/25 Financial Year and 
the 2025 Final Management Report from the Queensland Audit Office.  

BACKGROUND 
The Local Government Act 2009 and Local Government Regulation 2012 requires Council to 
compile annual financial statements in accordance with the Australian Accounting Standards 
and have them audited by the Queensland Audit Office (QAO) and signed off by the Auditor-
General of Queensland. 

DISCUSSION/CURRENT ISSUE 
The Financial Statements were signed off by the Queensland Audit Office on 18 September 
2025 after being endorsed by the Audit and Risk Committee on 16 September 2025.  
 
The 2024/25 financial statements and the analysis and comments of the Queensland Audit 
Office are contained in the attachments to this report.  
 
Council has reported a Net Result for the year of $11.9M and a total written down value of 
assets of $1.4B. This represents an increase of $20M as a result of the capitalisation of 
Works in Progress. Council has reported an Operating Deficit of ($300K) for the year ended 
30 June 2025 due largely to the timing of the payment of the Federal Government Financial 
Assistance Grant which was originally scheduled to be received in June 2024 but was not 
paid until July 2024. This had a negative impact on our 2024 results and a positive impact on 
the 2025 results.  
 
Through the External Audit process, Queensland Audit Office has issued an Unmodified 
Audit Opinion for the Annual Financial Statements following the restatement of 2023/24 
comparatives as a result of a prior period error identified associated with the delayed 
recognition of contributed assets. As a result of the external audit, there were recommended 
changes to the unaudited financial statements and for completeness, these have been 
incorporated into the Audited Financial Statements included with this report.  
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Council’s Financial Sustainability is assessed against the Financial Sustainability Guideline 
for Local Government. Council has reported meeting all targets set by the Department Local 
Government, Water and Volunteers for the 2024/25 Financial Year.  
 
The 2024/25 ratios and 5-year averages are displayed in the following table including the 
target range:  
 

 
The Operating Surplus Ratio is driven by the operating result reflecting an operating deficit of 
($300K). The budget was positively impacted by the receipt of the delayed payment of the 
annual Financial Assistance Grant of approximately $6M from the 2023/24 financial year.  
 
The Net Result Deficit is reflective of the Operating Deficit as detailed above and is 
significantly improved over the 2024/25 year as a result mainly of a large decrease in capital 
expenditure for loss on write-off of capital assets and prior year revaluation decrement of 
property, plant and equipment. 
 
QAO have reported one Significant Deficiency associated with developer contributed assets 
which resulted in a prior period error for the timing of recognition of these assets and one 
Deficiency in relation to the timing of sale and disposal of non-current fleet assets. 
Management responses have been provided in the Management Letter, and the Audit & 
Risk Committee accepts and considers the recommendations appropriate. 
 
There were no Financial Reporting issues raised and two matters previously reporting in 
previous financial years now reported as resoled by Queensland Audit Office in recognition 
of additional controls introduced for the annual revaluation and the significant effort 
undertaken by the organisation to reduce the Work in Progress balance of capital projects 
completed but not capitalised. Continued resourcing and support is required across the 
organisation to ensure that capital projects and capitalised in a timely manner following 
completion.   
 
Council’s Financial Statement maturity has been assessed as Integrated for the 2025 
Financial Year which demonstrates Council has quality month-end processes, early financial 
statement close processes, skilled financial statement preparation and use of technology 
and is able to resolve financial reporting matters appropriately. Improvement opportunities 
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still exist around exploring additional automation in financial statement preparation, 
managing the teams hours of work during this peak period and consideration of early close 
procedures in addition to what is currently part of our process.  
 
Council will continue to prioritise achieving the sustainability measures, ensuring the 
Financial Statement maturity levels remain strong whilst reviewing opportunities for further 
improvement and refinement as well as ensuring the internal control environment across the 
organisation remains strong.  
 
A copy of the Final Management Report is attached which provides additional information. 
The Audited Financial Statements will be published in the Annual Report alongside the 
Community Financial Report to assist with the interpretation of the Financial Statements for 
period ending 30 June 2025. 
 
These Audited Financial Statements provide a positive result for Council with receiving an 
unmodified audit opinion demonstrating the commitment to timeliness and the presentation 
of financial statements for audit. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
The financial sustainability is addressed through the audit report, and the financial 
performance of Council is visible in the financial reports that have been audited against 
Australian Accounting Standards. There are no further financial impacts, and Council 
remains in a financially sustainable position. The reported deficits are influenced 
predominantly by the timing of revenue transactions and the recognition of provisions 
relating to waste landfills when a larger deficit was budgeted. They do not necessarily reflect 
upon the financial performance but more reflect the timing of these transactions and the 
accounting treatment required.   

CONSULTATION/ENGAGEMENT 
Director Corporate Services  
Manager Financial Services  
Coordinator Strategic Finance  
Management Accountant  
WRC Audit and Risk Committee members 
Queensland Audit Office - Jacques Coetzee 
William Buck – Matthew Monoghan 

STATUTORY/COMPLIANCE MATTERS 
The finalisation of the audited financial statements for the 2024/25 financial year will ensure 
that Council complies with the requirements of the local government legislation and the 
relevant accounting and auditing standards. 
 
The Financial Statements have been assessed through an unmodified audit opinion to be in 
compliance with Australian Accounting Standards. 
 
Local Government Regulation 2012 Section 213. 

RISK ASSESSMENT/DEADLINES 
This Final Management Report References Council’s unmodified audit opinion and has 
closed two matters previously reported as resoled and raised one significant deficiency 
associated with contributed assets to be addressed and one deficiency associated with the 
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timing of auctions for Fleet assets and recognition during EOFY procedures which will also 
be addressed.  

STRATEGIC IMPACTS 
Maximise the organisation’s financial performance, achieving a high level of customer 
service, productivity and efficiency through strategic direction, expert advice, and leadership. 
Support the organisation in ensuring appropriate compliance with legislation and to support 
the elected council in its decision-making processes and obligations as a local government. 
Ensuring appropriate community engagement to guide Council’s decision making and 
project priorities. 

ATTACHMENTS 
1. Audited Financial Statements 2024/25 [12.1.1 - 44 pages] 
2. 2025 Final Management Report [12.1.2 - 7 pages] 
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Whitsunday Regional Council
Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30 June 2025

2025 2024

Note $ $

Restated

Income

Recurrent revenue

Rates and levies 3 (a) 110,857,809         102,717,873         

Sale of goods and major services 3 (b) 23,002,732           21,789,918           

Fees and charges 3 (c) 4,465,878             4,117,090             

Interest received 7,427,009             7,673,761             

Sales of contract and recoverable works 6,951,888             6,074,765             

Rental income 280,760                339,885                

Grants, subsidies, contributions and donations 3 (d) (i) 12,387,587           2,833,470             

Other recurrent income 3 (e) 2,275,903             3,019,528             

Total Recurrent (operating) revenue 167,649,566         148,566,290         

Capital income

Grants, subsidies, contributions and donations 3 (d) (ii) 33,508,689           40,738,930           

Other capital income 4         2,808,145             1,134,653             

Total capital income 36,316,834           41,873,583           

Total income 2 (b) 203,966,400         190,439,873         

Expenses 

Recurrent expenses

Employee benefits 5         (49,409,928)          (44,764,538)          

Materials and services 6         (77,357,079)          (71,180,993)          

Finance costs 7         (3,502,839)            (4,072,098)            

Depreciation and amortisation

Property, plant and equipment 15       (37,327,504)          (31,341,579)          

Right of use assets 17       (326,246)               (342,906)               

Total recurrent expenses (167,923,596)        (151,702,114)        

Capital expenses 8         (24,143,477)          (49,492,736)          

Total expenses 2 (b) (192,067,073)        (201,194,850)        

Net result 11,899,327           (10,754,977)          

Other comprehensive income

Items that will not be reclassified to net result

Increase in asset revaluation surplus 21       7,766,998             103,022,301         

Total other comprehensive income for the year 7,766,998             103,022,301         

Total comprehensive income for the year 19,666,325           92,267,324           

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes and Significant Accounting Policies.
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Whitsunday Regional Council

Statement of Financial Position
As at  30 June 2025

2025 2024

Note $ $

Restated

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 9         114,104,000        116,414,816        

Investments 10       10,000,000          20,000,000          

Receivables 11 (a) 16,501,479          11,594,319          

Inventories 12       1,995,678            1,475,388            

Contract assets 16 (a) 5,659,585            6,694,019            

Other assets 13       9,218,682            8,185,240            

157,479,424        164,363,782        

Non-current assets held for sale 625,000               625,000               

Total current assets 158,104,424        164,988,782        

Non-current assets

Receivables 11 (b) -                    4,000                   

Investment property 14       2,950,000            2,785,000            

Property, plant and equipment 15       1,398,078,894     1,374,205,190     

Right of use assets 17 (a) 2,226,148            1,896,813            

Total non-current assets 1,403,255,042     1,378,891,003     

Total assets 2 (b) 1,561,359,466     1,543,879,785     

Current liabilities

Payables 18       19,538,733          24,743,954          

Contract liabilities 16 (b) 20,664,991          16,817,545          

Provisions 19       19,167,366          14,761,725          

Borrowings 20       6,283,873            6,026,073            

Lease liabilities 17 (b) 312,462               309,262               

Total current liabilities 65,967,425          62,658,559          

Non-current liabilities

Payables 18       1,570,741            3,079,883            

Provisions 19       31,552,451          29,700,531          

Borrowings 20       51,107,776          57,304,874          

Lease liabilities 17 (b) 2,036,101            1,677,291            

Total non-current liabilities 86,267,069          91,762,579          

Total liabilities 152,234,494        154,421,138        

Net community assets 1,409,124,972     1,389,458,647     

Community equity

Asset revaluation surplus 21       544,596,656        536,829,658        

Retained surplus 864,528,316        852,628,989        

Total community equity 1,409,124,972     1,389,458,647     

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes and Significant Accounting Policies.
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Whitsunday Regional Council

Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 30 June 2025

Note Restated Restated

2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024

$ $ $ $ $ $

Balance at beginning of year 1,389,458,647               1,294,454,865               852,628,989                  860,647,508                  536,829,658                  433,807,357                  

Prior period adjustment for recognition of non-current assets 30 -                              2,736,458                      -                              2,736,458                      -                              -                              

Restated opening balances 1,389,458,647               1,297,191,323               852,628,989                  863,383,966                  536,829,658                  433,807,357                  

Net result 11,899,327                    (10,754,977)                  11,899,327                    (10,754,977)                  -                              -                              

Other comprehensive income for the year

Revaluations:

Property, plant & equipment 15 7,766,998                      103,022,478                  -                              -                              7,766,998                      103,022,478                  

Change in value of future

rehabilitation costs 21 -                              (177)                              -                              -                              -                              (177)                              

Total comprehensive income for year 19,666,325                    92,267,324                    11,899,327                    (10,754,977)                  7,766,998                      103,022,301                  

Balance at end of year 1,409,124,972               1,389,458,647               864,528,316                  852,628,989                  544,596,656                  536,829,658                  

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes and Significant Accounting Policies.

Total Retained surplus   Asset revaluation surplus

Note 21
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Whitsunday Regional Council

Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2025

2025 2024

Note $ $

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts from customers 156,566,919         148,053,320         

Payments to suppliers and employees (149,379,338)        (122,171,245)        

Interest received 7,427,009             7,673,761             

Rental income 280,760                339,885                

Non capital grants and contributions 11,563,635           2,278,467             

Borrowing costs (2,283,264)            (2,521,001)            

Net cash inflow (outflow) from operating activities 26       24,175,721           33,653,187           

Cash flows from investing activities

Payments for property, plant and equipment 15       (68,526,153)          (60,195,265)          

Payments for investment property 14 & 15 (1,737)                   -                      

Repayments of (advances of) loans to community organisations 250,000                12,000                  

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 759,450                321,061                

Non-current assets held for sale - Proceeds from sale -                      819,000                

Grants, subsidies, contributions and donations 38,959,045           39,236,165           

Payments for rehabilitation work 19       (1,694,274)            (333,657)               

Net transfer (to) from cash investments 10       10,000,000           10,000,000           

Net cash inflow (outflow) from investing activities (20,253,669)          (10,140,696)          

Cash flows from financing activities:

Repayment of borrowings 20       (5,939,297)            (5,683,844)            

Repayments made on leases (principal only) 17       (293,571)               (312,561)               

Net cash inflow (outflow) from financing activities (6,232,868)            (5,996,405)            

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents held (2,310,816)            17,516,086           

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the financial year 116,414,816         98,898,730           

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the financial year 9         114,104,000         116,414,816         

 

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes and Significant Accounting Policies.
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Whitsunday Regional Council
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended 30 June 2025

1 Information about these financial statements

1.1 Basis of preparation

These general purpose financial statements are for the period 1 July 2024 to 30 June 2025 and have been prepared in 
compliance with the requirements of the Local Government Act 2009  and the Local Government Regulation 2012 . 

Council is a not-for-profit entity for financial reporting purposes and these financial statements comply with Australian 
Accounting Standards and interpretations as applicable to not-for-profit entities.

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention except for the revaluation of certain 
classes of property, plant and equipment and investment property.

1.2 Constitution
The Whitsunday Regional Council (Council) is constituted under the Queensland Local Government Act 2009  and is domiciled 
in Australia.

1.3 New and revised Accounting Standards adopted during the year
Council adopted all standards which became mandatorily effective for annual reporting period beginning on 1 July 2024.

The relevant standards for Council were:

 - AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements  (amended by AASB 2020-1, AASB2020-6, AASB 2022-6, 
   AASB 2023-3) relating to current/non-current classification of liabilities.

 - AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement  (amended by AASB 2022-10)

1.4 Standards issued by the AASB not yet effective
The AASB has issued Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations which are not mandatorily effective at 30 June 
2025, these standards have not been adopted by Council and will be included in the financial statements on their effective 
date. None of these standards are expected to have a material impact on reported positions, performance and cash flows.

1.5 Estimates and judgements
In the application of Council's accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions 
about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.  The estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.  Actual results may differ 
from these estimates.  The estimates and ongoing assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in future periods as relevant. 

Judgements, estimates and assumptions that have a potential significant effect are outlined in the following financial statement 
notes:

Revenue recognition - note 3
Valuation of Investment Property - note 14
Valuation and depreciation of property, plant and equipment - note 15
Leases - note 17
Provisions - note 19
Contingent liabilities - note 24
Financial liabilities - note 27

1.6 Rounding and comparatives
The financial statements are in Australian dollars and have been rounded to the nearest $1, unless otherwise stated.

Comparative information has been restated where necessary to be consistent with disclosures in the current reporting period.

1.7 Volunteer services
Council is in receipt of volunteer services provided by Townsville Correctional Centre's Bowen Women's Work Camp. The 
Work Camp team supports the performance of tasks such as maintenance of fences, cemeteries, playgrounds & showground 
and participates in restoration & general maintenance projects. Council is in receipt of Volunteer Services provided to 
Proserpine Entertainment Centre from the community. Council partners with Queensland Corrective Services to provide 
beneficial works projects for the community, and rehabilitate offenders to assist with their return to society.   Although the fair 
value of these volunteer services can be reliably measured they have not been recognised as per AASB 1058 as these 
services do not provide direct economic benefit to Council and would not be procured if they were not provided voluntarily. 

1.8 Taxation
Income of local authorities and public authorities is exempt from Commonwealth taxation except for Fringe Benefits Tax and 
Goods and Services Tax (GST).  The net amount of GST recoverable from the ATO or payable to the ATO is shown as an 
asset or liability respectively. 

Council pays payroll tax to the Queensland Government on certain activities.

5 

Attachment 12.1.1 Audited Financial Statements 2024/25

This is page 12 of the Supplementary Agenda of Council's Ordinary Council Meeting - Wednesday 24 September 2025



Whitsunday Regional Council

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2025

2 Analysis of Results by Function

(a)   Components of council functions

The activities relating to the Council's components reported on in Note 2 (b) are as follows :

Office of the Chief Executive 
Incorporates Human Resources, Communications, the offices of the Mayor, Councillors and the Chief Executive Officer to 
set and achieve Council's goals and objectives for the citizens of the Whitsunday region by providing direction, support, co-
ordination, strategic resource management and achieve effective and efficient management of Council.

Corporate Services 
Corporate Services is responsible for the provision of efficient, effective and accountable financial and administrative 
services to Council and the community it serves. The core departments include Governance and Administration, Financial 
Services, Procurement, Property, Fleet & Workshops, and Information Services.

Regional Strategy and Planning
Regional Strategy and Planning caters for Council's aim to achieve sustainable development in the region's communities. 
This is achieved through Strategic Planning, Development Assessment, Building Certification and Plumbing Certification 
including the management of Council's Local Government Infrastructure Plan.

Community Services and Facilitation
Caters for Council's aim to achieve sustainability by maintaining compliance activities, vibrant communities and a thriving 
natural environment. This includes environmental health, natural resource management, local laws, aquatic facilities, 
libraries and function centres. This area also manages Council's customer contact centres.

Infrastructure Services
To provide well-maintained, safe & efficient transport and stormwater networks, marine infrastructure, engineering 
services, cemetery and public open space management to meet the community's current and future needs.

Waste Management
To protect public health, safety and the environment by the provision of an efficient system for safe collection, 
transportation, recycling and disposal of waste products.

Commercial Businesses
To maintain public airports and ports that provide air and sea transportation for the community, tourism and industry as 
well as smaller airstrips within the region, quarry operations, holiday parks, economic development and tourism to support 
a strong and diverse economy.

Water Services 
To meet the community needs for potable water by the efficient purchase, treatment, storage and distribution of water to 
consumers.

Sewerage Services 
To protect public health, safety and the environment by the provision of an efficient system for safe collection, 
transportation, treatment and disposal of sewage waste.

Capital Program and Network Planning
To provide well-constructed infrastructure assets across the organisation and delivery of strategic planning associated with 
the long term infrastructure needs of our community. 
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Whitsunday Regional Council  

 

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2025

2    Analysis of results by function (continued)

(b)  Revenue, expenses and assets have been attributed to the following functions :

Gross program income Elimination of Total Gross program expenses Elimination of Total Operating Net Total

Recurrent revenue Inter-function income Recurrent Capital Inter-function expenses surplus/(deficit) result Assets

Grants Other Grants Other transactions transactions from recurrent for year

operations

2025 2025 2025 2025 2025 2025 2025 2025 2025 2025 2025 2025 as at 30/6/25

Programs $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Office of the Chief Executive 250,041           14,715             -                   -                   -                   264,756           (2,846,354)       -                  204,286           (2,642,068)       (2,377,312)           (2,377,312)       -                    

Corporate Services 5,967,048        90,460,189      2,868,924        165,149           (21,915,423)     77,545,887      (15,727,113)     (1,624,462)        1,041,563        (16,310,012)     59,826,264           61,235,875      276,045,598       

Regional Strategy and Planning -                   2,193,665        3,752,294        -                   -                   5,945,959        (4,579,857)       -                  734,321           (3,845,536)       (1,651,871)           2,100,423        23,816                

Community Services and Facilitation 750,248           2,819,013        53,978             -                   -                   3,623,239        (23,316,242)     (190,640)           2,934,325        (20,572,557)     (16,812,656)         (16,949,318)     38,464,351         

Infrastructure Services 4,226,269        4,825,972        23,696,188      -                   (3,005)              32,745,424      (60,890,235)     (9,053,916)        11,061,507      (58,882,644)     (40,779,492)         (26,137,220)     746,795,492       

Waste Management 37,677             16,140,329      348,122           2,428,640        (871,102)          18,083,666      (16,821,111)     (9,237,001)        1,664,488        (24,393,624)     150,281                (6,309,958)       11,227,746         

Commercial Businesses 19,352             17,731,714      2,167,298        214,356           (6,001)              20,126,719      (21,978,194)     (698,289)           1,720,888        (20,955,595)     (2,512,241)           (828,876)          106,111,349       

Water Services 92,428             27,182,958      422,795           -                   (2,428,356)       25,269,825      (21,673,215)     (931,787)           2,299,811        (20,305,191)     5,473,626             4,964,634        227,455,704       

Sewerage Services 31,500             19,765,705      151,840           -                   (630,411)          19,318,634      (19,035,333)     (2,364,452)        3,077,628        (18,322,157)     3,209,089             996,477           154,468,275       

Capital Program and Network Planning 1,013,024        64,513             47,250             -                   (82,496)            1,042,291        (6,992,736)       (42,930)             1,197,977        (5,837,689)       (4,799,718)           (4,795,398)       767,135              

Total 12,387,587      181,198,773    33,508,689      2,808,145        (25,936,794)     203,966,400    (193,860,390)   (24,143,477)      25,936,794      (192,067,073)   (274,030)              11,899,327      1,561,359,466    

Gross program income Elimination of Total Gross program expenses Elimination of Total Operating Net Total

Recurrent revenue Inter-function income Recurrent Capital Inter-function expenses surplus/(deficit) result Assets

Grants Other Grants Other transactions transactions from recurrent for year

Restated operations Restated

2024 2024 2024 2024 2024 2024 2024 2024 2024 2024 2024 2024 as at 30/6/24

Programs $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Office of the Chief Executive 393,328           38,916 -                   -                   -                   432,244           (3,517,443)       -                  176,607           (3,340,836)       (2,908,592)           (2,908,592)       -                    

Corporate Services 765,248           84,722,652 888,951           47,142             (19,412,508)     67,011,485      (14,781,994)     (613,745)           982,951           (14,412,788)     52,276,349           52,598,697      244,251,381       

Regional Strategy and Planning -                   2,018,891 2,789,215        -                   -                   4,808,106        (5,010,153)       -                  804,392           (4,205,761)       (2,186,870)           602,345           17,155                

Community Services and Facilitation 655,782           2,460,878 57,449             -                   -                   3,174,109        (22,767,754)     449,145             3,090,498        (19,228,111)     (16,560,596)         (16,054,002)     37,136,444         

Infrastructure Services 743,588           4,597,164 34,769,692      -                   (1,040)              40,109,404      (52,023,594)     (26,468,286)      9,447,828        (69,044,052)     (37,236,054)         (28,934,648)     739,403,117       

Waste Management 19,192             13,610,790 -                   367,186           (906,047)          13,091,121      (13,025,429)     (10,119,962)      1,159,454        (21,985,937)     857,960                (8,894,816)       17,890,256         

Commercial Businesses 147,203           17,311,305 343,247           720,325           (2,020)              18,520,060      (21,810,019)     (9,058,637)        1,634,619        (29,234,037)     (2,718,912)           (10,713,977)     97,982,650         

Water Services -                   25,444,535 1,228,014        -                   (2,381,634)       24,290,915      (20,449,846)     (2,704,060)        2,220,225        (20,933,681)     4,833,280             3,357,234        238,934,146       

Sewerage Services -                   18,755,887 664,374           -                   (518,780)          18,901,481      (17,731,494)     (977,191)           3,174,969        (15,533,716)     3,680,582             3,367,765        167,457,872       

Capital Program and Network Planning 109,129           222,476 (2,012)              -                   (228,645)          100,948           (4,035,062)       -                  759,131           (3,275,931)       (3,172,971)           (3,174,983)       806,765              

Total 2,833,470        169,183,494    40,738,930      1,134,653        (23,450,674)     190,439,873    (175,152,788)   (49,492,736)      23,450,674      (201,194,850)   (3,135,824)           (10,754,977)     1,543,879,785    

Capital revenue

Capital revenue
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2025 2024
Note $ $

3 Revenue
(a)    Rates, levies and charges

General rates 63,706,201           59,773,264           
Water 13,399,560           12,432,422           
Water consumption, rental and sundries 9,131,000             8,284,353             
Sewerage 19,615,257           18,947,771           
Waste management 10,284,628           8,215,420             
Rates and utility charge revenue 116,136,646         107,653,230         
Less:  Discounts (4,525,439)            (4,211,021)            
Less:  Pensioner remissions (753,398)               (724,336)               

Net rates, levies and charges 110,857,809         102,717,873         

(b)    Sale of goods and major services

Parking and other ranger services 2,313,533             2,047,441             
Refuse tips and transfer station charges 4,415,181             3,648,056             
Aerodrome charges 7,133,202             6,866,568             
Quarry charges 2,619,881             2,701,891             
Shute Harbour commercial activities 3,614,083             3,571,543             
Holiday Parks fees and charges 1,487,762             1,450,898             
Water and sewerage fees and charges 626,758                964,450                
Entertainment & community centres 792,332                539,071                

23,002,732           21,789,918           

(c)    Fees and charges

Lodgement fees 1,934,353             1,880,856             
Animal registrations 247,777                238,853                
Inspection fees 125,040                82,560                  
Licences and permits 860,861                815,368                
Fines and infringements 439,979                359,971                
Search Fees 369,845                318,715                
Other statutory fees 76,673                  74,273                  
User fees and charges 411,350                346,494                

4,465,878             4,117,090             

Rates, levies and charges are recognised as revenue when Council obtains control over the assets 
comprising these receipts which is the beginning of the rating period to which they relate.   Prepaid rates 
are recognised as a financial liability until the beginning of the rating period.

Revenue arising from fees and charges is recognised at the point in time when the performance 
obligation is completed and the customer receives the benefit of the goods / services being provided.  

Licences granted by Council are all either short-term or low value and all revenue from licences is 
recognised at the time that the licence is granted rather than the term of the licence.

Revenue from infringements is recognised on issue of infringement notice after applying the expected 
credit loss model relating to impairment of receivables for initial recognition of statutory receivables.

Sale of goods is recognised at the point in time when the performance obligation is completed or when 
the service is rendered.

Council generates revenue from a number of services. The performance obligation relates to the specific 
services which are provided to the customers and generally the payment terms are within 30 days of the 
provision of the service or in some cases, the customer is required to pay on arrival, for example caravan 
parks.  There is no material obligation for Council in relation to refunds or returns. Contract revenue and 
associated costs are recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the contract activity based on 
costs incurred at the reporting date. Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or 
receivable in relation to that activity. Where consideration is received for the service in advance it is 
included in other liabilities and is recognised as revenue in the period when the service is performed.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2025

2025 2024
Note $ $

3 Revenue (continued)
(d)    Grants, subsidies, contributions and donations

(i)     Operating
General purpose grants 8,460,761             267,026                
State Government subsidies & grants 2,958,649             2,482,952             
State Government grant for flood damage 945,802                13,963                  
Donations 550                       3,943                    
Contributions 21,825                  65,586                  
Total recurrent revenue 12,387,587           2,833,470             

(ii)     Capital
(a)   Monetary revenue designated for capital funding purposes:

   Commonwealth government grants 3,616,789             4,013,670             
   State Government subsidies & grants 7,260,886             5,534,366             
   DRFA flood damage grants for capitalised repairs 17,775,943           20,752,954           
   Infrastructure charges 3,752,294             2,789,215             

32,405,912           33,090,205           

Grant income under AASB 15
Where grant income arises from an agreement which is enforceable and contains sufficiently specific 
performance obligations, then the revenue is recognised when conformance to each performance 
obligations is satisfied. 

The performance obligations are varied based on the agreement but include delivery of services and 
events.  Payment terms vary depending on the terms of the grant, cash is received upfront for some 
grants and on the achievement of certain milestones for others. 

Each performance obligation is considered to ensure that the revenue recognition reflects the transfer of 
control.  Within grant agreements there may be some performance obligations where control transfers at 
a point in time and others which have continuous transfer of control over the life of the contract. 

Where control is transferred over time, generally the input methods being either costs incurred or time 
elapsed are deemed to be the most appropriate methods to reflect the transfer of benefit.

Grant income under AASB 1058 
Assets arising from grants in the scope of AASB 1058 are recognised at the assets fair value when the 
asset is received.  Council considers whether there are any related liability or equity items associated 
with the assets which are recognised.
 
Once the assets and liabilities have been recognised, then income is recognised for any remaining asset 
value at the time that the asset is received.

Capital grants 
Capital grants received to enable Council to acquire or construct an item of property, plant and 
equipment to identified specifications, which will be under Council’s control and which is enforceable, are 
recognised as revenue as and when the obligation to construct or purchase is completed. For 
construction projects, this is generally as the construction progresses in accordance with costs incurred, 
since this is deemed to be the most appropriate measure of the completeness of the construction project 
as there is no profit margin. 

Where assets are donated or purchased for significantly below fair value, the revenue is recognised 
when the asset is acquired and controlled by Council.

Council has not spent all recurrent grants in the year received and therefore Council has established an 
internal reserve for this purpose.

Developers pay infrastructure charges for trunk infrastructure, such as pump stations, treatment works, 
water & sewer mains, and water pollution control works. These infrastructure charges are not within the 
scope of AASB 1058 because there is no performance obligation associated with them. Consequently, 
the infrastructure charges are recognised as income when received. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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2025 2024
Note $ $

Restated
3 Revenue (continued)

(b)   Non-monetary revenue received is analysed as follows:

   Developer assets contributed by developers at fair value 1,102,777             7,648,725             

Total capital revenue 33,508,689           40,738,930           

Total grants, subsidies, contributions and donations 45,896,276           43,572,400           

(iii)     Timing of revenue recognition for grants, subsidies, 
           contributions and donations

Grants and subsidies
Revenue recognised at a point in time 8,940,760             2,763,099             
Revenue recognised over time 32,078,070           30,301,832           

Contributions
Revenue recognised at a point in time 4,877,446             10,507,469           

45,896,276           43,572,400           

(e)    Other recurrent income

Government reimbursements 1,438,413             1,301,782             

Other recurrent 837,490                1,717,746             
2,275,903             3,019,528             

4 Other capital income
Revaluation of investment property 14 190,380                685,000                

Gain on sale of non-current assets 165,149                47,142                  
Changes arising from revisions of future restoration expenditure - Quarry 
rehabilitation 19                   23,976                   35,325 
Reduction in rehabilitation provision on land not controlled by Council 19 2,428,640             367,186                

2,808,145             1,134,653             

5 Employee benefits 
Total staff wages and salaries 37,430,990           33,538,119           
Councillors' remuneration 633,522                587,524                
Annual, sick and long service leave entitlements 7,093,420             6,860,888             
Termination benefits 236,045                89,065                  
Superannuation 25       4,832,776             4,240,360             

50,226,753           45,315,956           
Other employee related expenses 2,120,296             1,883,931             

52,347,049           47,199,887           
Less:    Capitalised employee expenses (2,937,121)            (2,435,349)            

49,409,928           44,764,538           

Councillor remuneration represents salary and other allowances paid in respect of carrying 
out their duties.

Total Council employees at the reporting date: 2025             
Number 

2024                
Number

Elected members 7                           7                           
Administration staff 216                       215                       
Depot and outdoors staff 209                       204                       
Total full time equivalent employees 432                       426                       

Physical assets contributed to Council by developers in the form of road works, stormwater, water & 
wastewater infrastructure, and park equipment are recognised as revenue when Council obtains control 
of the assets and becomes liable for any ongoing maintenance and there is sufficient data in the form of 
drawings and plans to determine the approximate specifications and values of such assets. All non-cash 
contributions in excess of the recognition threshold are recognised at the fair value of the contribution 
received on the date of acquisition. A non-current asset is also recognised if the value is in excess of the 
recognition threshold.
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For the year ended 30 June 2025

2025 2024
Note $ $

6 Materials and services
Audit of annual financial statements by the Auditor-General of Queensland 187,598                145,332                
Community donations, grants, subsidies & contributions 2,635,358             2,786,814             
Legal services 1,028,316             1,227,517             
Insurance 3,330,427             2,792,798             
Consultants & services 2,485,556             3,525,382             
Contractors 31,596,047           26,456,012           
Equipment hire & plant operations 5,618,990             5,003,852             
Advertising & marketing 746,318                716,932                
Cost of inventories 695,156                561,173                
Communications & IT 6,874,432             5,821,927             
Repairs & maintenance & utility charges 4,967,880             4,468,229             
Raw materials & consumables 9,532,692             9,483,944             
Registrations & subscriptions 145,153                165,405                
Safety 1,400,644             1,295,824             
Purchase of water 2,967,384             2,941,712             
Low-value leases 17       66,611                  143,280                
Other material and services 2,397,314             2,911,712             
Direct expenses in investment properties 681,203                733,147                

77,357,079           71,180,993           

7 Finance costs
Finance costs charged by the Queensland Treasury Corporation 2,213,901             2,462,707             
Bank charges 256,189                325,046                
Impairment of receivables and bad debts written up (329,959)               317,082                

Quarry rehabilitation - change in present value 19       44,962                  32,109                  
Landfill rehabilitation - change in present value 19       1,248,382             876,860                

Interest on leases 17       69,364                  58,294                  
3,502,839             4,072,098             

8 Capital expenses
Loss on write-off of capital assets 15       14,753,115           30,766,330           
Revaluation down of property, plant and equipment 15       -                      8,355,645             
Loss on write-off of investment properties 14       27,117                  -                      
Increase in rehabilitation provision relating to Council controlled site 19       20,507                  35,304                  
Change arising from revision of the future restoration expenditure -Quarry 19       111,399                186,587                
Change arising from revision of the future restoration expenditure - Landfill 19       9,231,339             10,148,870           
Total capital expenses 24,143,477           49,492,736           

9 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash at bank and on hand 945,710                489,422                
Deposits at call 113,158,290         115,925,394         
Balance per Statement of Cash Flows 114,104,000         116,414,816         

Unrestricted cash

Cash and cash equivalents 114,104,000         116,414,816         

Less:  Externally imposed expenditure restrictions at the reporting date relate to the following 
cash assets:

Unspent government grants and subsidies 20,664,991           16,817,546           

Unspent developer contributions 18,950,605           15,467,691           

Waste levy refund received in advance 18       3,079,883             4,527,428             

Total externally restricted cash 42,695,479           36,812,665           

Unrestricted cash 71,408,521           79,602,151           

Councils cash and cash equivalents are subject to a number of external restrictions that limit amounts 
available for discretionary or future use. 

Council received this advance in the 2021/22 and 2022/23 financial years and there are currently only 
one year remaining. This payment is to mitigate the direct impacts on households. 
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2025 2024
Note $ $

9 Cash and cash equivalents (continued)

Trust funds held for outside parties

Trust funds held for outside parties
Monies collected or held on behalf of other entities yet
to be paid out to or on behalf of those entities 33,577                  33,575                  
Security deposits 2,388,413             2,145,306             

2,421,990             2,178,881             

10 Investments

Total investments 10,000,000           20,000,000           

11 Receivables

Council applies normal business credit protection procedures prior to providing goods or 
services to minimise credit risk.

Funds held in the trust account on behalf of outside parties include those funds from the sale of land for 
arrears in rates, deposits for the contracted sale of land, security deposits lodged to guarantee 
performance and unclaimed monies (e.g. wages) paid into the trust account by Council.  Council 
performs only a custodian role in respect of these monies and because the monies cannot be used for 
Council purposes, they are not considered revenue nor brought to account in the financial statements 
since Council has no control over the assets.

• Infringement Debtors - 30%  of amounts outstanding past the due date

• Infringement Debtors - 100%  of amounts outstanding > 12 months with SPER

• Other General Debtors - 7.5% of amounts outstanding past the due date

Term deposits in excess of 3 months are reported as Investments.  Investments are held with financial 
institutions, which are rated A-1+ and A-2 based on rating agency Standard and Poor's ratings.  Whilst 
not capital guaranteed, the likelihood of a credit failure is assessed as low.

• Rates & Utility Charges Debtors - 0.025% of amounts outstanding past the due date

The collectability of receivables is assessed periodically and if there is objective evidence that Council will 
not be able to collect all amounts due, the carrying amount is impaired for potentially unrecoverable 
amounts, prior to the calculation of the provision.

The provision for Rates & Utility Charges is low because Council is empowered under the provisions of 
the Local Government Act 2009  to sell an owner's property to recover outstanding rates and utility 
charges.

Council has undertaken a comprehensive review of past records to determine an appropriate level of 
provision for debts that may be potentially uncollectible in the future. Based on this analysis, Council has 
determined the following as an appropriate basis for calculating the provision for doubtful debts.

Cash and deposits at call are held in the Commonwealth Bank (CommBiz) and Queensland Treasury 
Corporation in normal term deposits and business cheque accounts. 
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2025 2024
Note $ $

11 Receivables (continued)

(a)  Current
Rateable revenue 7,789,223             6,257,333             
Other debtors 9,412,607             6,133,995             
Less:  Loss Allowance (704,351)               (806,009)               

16,497,479           11,585,319           

Loans and advances to community organisations 4,000                    1,004,000             
Less:  Loss Allowance -                      (995,000)               

16,501,479           11,594,319           

(b)  Non-current
Loans and advances to community organisations -                      4,000                    

Movement in accumulated impairment losses
is as follows:

Opening balance at 1 July 1,801,009             1,770,832             
Less : Debts written off during the year (1,186,463)            (290,710)               
Impairment adjustment in period 98,925                  329,447                
Less : Impairments reversed (9,120)                   (8,560)                   
Closing balance at 30 June 704,351                1,801,009             

Not past due 8,344,007             5,604,041             

Past due 31-60 days 431,408                398,431                

Past due 61-90 days 134,450                90,374                  

More than 90 days 8,295,965             7,306,482             

Impaired (704,351)               (1,801,009)            
Total 16,501,479           11,598,319           

Interest was charged on outstanding rates and levies at a rate of 12.35%  per annum, compounded daily.  
No interest is charged on other debtors. There is no concentration of credit risk for rates and utility 
charges, fees and other debtors receivable.

Loans relate to advances made to various sporting bodies.  These loans arise from time to time and are 
subject to negotiated interest rates.  The prior year loans and advances to community organisations has 
been partially paid and the remaining of the balance written off through council resolution during the 
current financial year.

Loans and advances are recognised at the amount due at the time of the advance.  Terms are usually a 
maximum of five years with interest charged at negotiated rates.  Security is not normally obtained.

Ageing of past due receivables and the amount of any impairment is disclosed in the following 
table:
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2025 2024
Note $ $

12 Inventories

Inventories for internal use
Quarry and road materials 717,375                409,184                
Stores and materials 1,164,324             979,469                
Shute Harbour fuel 113,979                86,735                  

Closing Balance 1,995,678             1,475,388             

13 Other assets

Water charges not yet levied 4,654,039             4,200,000             
GST recoverable 1,464,426             916,362                
Prepayments 3,100,217             3,068,878             

9,218,682             8,185,240             

14 Investment property

Owned investment property
Fair value at beginning of financial year 2,785,000             2,100,000             
Revaluation adjustment to income statement 4         190,380                685,000                
Acquisitions 15       1,737                    -                      
Assets written-off in the period 8         (27,117)                 -                      
Fair value at end of financial year 2,950,000             2,785,000             

Investment properties comprises of:
Proserpine Caravan Park
Wangaratta Caravan Park

Investment properties were valued at fair value by Gregory Williams API No: 66044, QVRB No: 
2004 from Herron Todd White, an independent professionally qualified valuation firm, as at 30 
June 2025. Herron Todd White valuers have extensive experience in valuing properties of this 
nature in the Whitsunday Regional Council and surrounding areas.

Further information about the valuation techniques used to derive fair value are included in note 
15.

Income from the investment properties are shown in note 3(b).

Operating expenses in respect of investment properties are shown in note 6.

Investment property is initially recognised at cost (including transaction costs) and subsequently at fair 
value. Where investment property is acquired for significantly below fair value it is recorded at fair value 
on initial recognition.

Stores, raw materials and quarry inventory held are valued at cost and include where applicable direct 
material, direct labour and other indirect costs.

Inventory held for distribution is valued at cost, adjusted, when applicable, for any loss of service 
potential.

Investment property is property held for the primary purpose of earning rentals and/or capital 
appreciation. This includes land held by council for a currently undetermined future use. Investment 
property does not include community housing or other property held to provide a social service.
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15 Property, plant and equipment

Note

Basis of measurement Fair Value Fair Value Cost Fair Value Fair Value Fair Value Fair Value Cost
2025 2025 2025 2025 2025 2025 2025 2025 2025

Asset  Values $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $
Opening gross value as at 1 July 2024 48,720,583             184,450,118         77,353,707           944,200,646           352,028,273           242,218,634           44,674,827             89,956,551           1,983,603,339             
Additions at cost -                        -                      -                      -                        -                        -                        -                        68,527,890           68,527,890                  
Internal transfers from work in progress -                        8,704,185             10,522,800           20,176,111             4,844,672               5,197,632               1,193,320               (50,638,720)          -                             
Contributed assets at valuation -                        -                      -                      251,754                  -                        3,720                      -                        -                      255,474                       
Disposals (125,000)                 -                      (2,413,416)            -                        -                        -                        -                        -                      (2,538,416)                   
Write-offs 8 (10,000)                   (2,674,576)            (580,105)               (10,674,395)            (2,768,050)              (3,678,726)              -                        (2,448,289)            (22,834,141)                 

Revaluation adjustment to other comprehensive income 7,766,998               -                      -                      -                        -                        -                        -                        -                      7,766,998                    
Transfer to investment properties (1,737)                   (1,737)                          
Closing gross value as at 30 June 2025 56,352,581             190,479,727         84,882,986           953,954,116           354,104,895           243,741,260           45,868,147             105,395,695         2,034,779,407             

Accumulated depreciation and impairment
Opening balance as at 1 July 2024 28,647                    56,108,482           42,060,485           268,588,028           137,772,708           93,109,671             11,730,129             -                      609,398,150                

Internal transfers between asset classes -                        -                      -                      -                        -                        -                        -                        -                      -                             
Depreciation provided in period 1,246                      5,403,766             5,975,934             14,815,289             5,783,437               4,550,488               797,344                  -                      37,327,504                  
Depreciation on disposals -                        -                      (1,944,115)            -                        -                        -                        -                        -                      (1,944,115)                   
Depreciation on write-offs 8 -                        (997,877)               (416,570)               (3,516,042)              (1,836,263)              (1,314,274)              -                        -                      (8,081,026)                   
Accumulated depreciation as at 30 June 2025 29,893                    60,514,371           45,675,734           279,887,275           141,719,882           96,345,885             12,527,473             -                      636,700,513                

Total written down value as at 30 June 2025 56,322,688             129,965,356         39,207,252           674,066,841           212,385,013           147,395,375           33,340,674             105,395,695         1,398,078,894             

Range of estimated useful life in years

Land: Not 
depreciated.  

Improvements:              
0 - 50

3 - 100 1 - 60 10 - 240 3 - 240 5 - 240 40 - 80 n/a n/a

Addition of renewal assets -                        -                      -                      -                        -                        -                        -                        44,700,985           44,700,985                  
Addition of other assets -                        -                      -                      -                        -                        -                        -                        23,826,905           23,826,905                  
Total additions in period -       -                      -                      -                        -                        -                        -                        68,527,890           68,527,890                  

Water 
Infrastructure

Sewerage 
Infrastructure

Transport  
Infrastructure

Land and 
Improvements

Buildings and 
Other Structures

Plant and 
Equipment

Marine 
Infrastructure

Works in 
progress

Total
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15 Property, plant and equipment

Note

Basis of measurement Fair Value Fair Value Cost Fair Value Fair Value Fair Value Fair Value Cost
2024 2024 2024 2024 2024 2024 2024 2024 2024

Asset  Values $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $
Opening gross value as at 1 July 2023 48,730,583             181,610,075         74,383,967           773,924,655           312,051,694           228,766,485           43,678,369             74,172,397           1,737,318,225             
Additions at cost -                        -                      -                      -                        -                        -                        -                        60,195,265           60,195,265                  
Internal transfers from work in progress -                        4,197,123             3,896,441             25,943,729             8,855,594               1,518,224               -                        (44,411,111)          -                             
Contributed assets at valuation 3 -                        -                      -                      6,506,190               478,162                  664,374                  -                        -                      7,648,726                    
Disposals (10,000)                   -                      (526,786)               -                        -                        -                        -                        -                      (536,786)                      
Write-offs 8 -                        (1,370,998)            (385,997)               (35,605,043)            (5,255,155)              (1,810,947)              -                        -                      (44,428,140)                 

Revaluation adjustment to other comprehensive income -                        -                      -                      172,961,313           36,330,116             13,118,162             -                        -                      222,409,591                
Revaluation adjustment to capital loss 8 -                        -                      -                      -                        -                        996,458                  -                      996,458                       
Internal transfers between asset classes -                        13,918                  (13,918)                 469,802                  (432,138)                 (37,664)                   -                        -                      -                             
Closing gross value as at 30 June 2024 48,720,583             184,450,118         77,353,707           944,200,646           352,028,273           242,218,634           44,674,827             89,956,551           1,983,603,339             

Accumulated depreciation and impairment
Opening balance as at 1 July 2023 27,401                    51,314,695           37,453,568           128,962,067           173,169,039           70,785,031             1,741,233               -                      463,453,034                

Internal transfers between asset classes -                        2,316                    (2,316)                   58,690                    (40,314)                   (18,376)                   -                        -                      -                             
Depreciation provided in period 1,246                      5,278,147             5,342,460             9,702,221               5,755,632               4,625,080               636,793                  -                      31,341,579                  
Depreciation on disposals -                        -                      (473,869)               -                        -                        -                        -                        -                      (473,869)                      
Depreciation on write-offs 8 -                        (486,676)               (259,358)               (9,530,924)              (2,551,095)              (833,757)                 -                        -                      (13,661,810)                 

Revaluation adjustment to other comprehensive income -                        -                      -                      139,395,974           (38,560,554)            18,551,693             -                        -                      119,387,113                
Revaluation adjustment to capital loss 8 -                        -                      -                      9,352,103               9,352,103                    
Accumulated depreciation as at 30 June 2024 28,647                    56,108,482           42,060,485           268,588,028           137,772,708           93,109,671             11,730,129             -                      609,398,150                

Total written down value as at 30 June 2024 48,691,936             128,341,636         35,293,222           675,612,618           214,255,565           149,108,963           32,944,698             89,956,551           1,374,205,189             

Range of estimated useful life in years

Land: Not 
depreciated.  

Improvements:              
0 - 50

3 - 100 1 - 60 10 - 400 3 - 240 5 - 240 40 - 80 n/a n/a

Addition of renewal assets -                        -                      -                      -                        -                        -                        -                        39,994,214           39,994,214                  
Addition of other assets -                        -                      -                      -                        -                        -                        -                        20,201,051           20,201,051                  
Total additions in period -       -                      -                      -                        -                        -                        -                        60,195,265           60,195,265                  

Land and 
Improvements

Buildings and 
Other Structures

Plant and 
Equipment

Transport  
Infrastructure

Restated

Water 
Infrastructure

Restated

Sewerage 
Infrastructure

Restated

Marine 
Infrastructure

Works in 
progress

Total

Restated
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15 
(a) Recognition

(b) Measurement

(c) Capital work in progress

(d) Depreciation

(e) Land under roads

(f) Impairment of non-current assets

(g) Valuation

(i) Valuation Processes

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Each class of property, plant and equipment is stated at cost or fair value less, where applicable, any accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment loss.  
Individual items of plant and equipment with a value of less than $7,500  are treated as an expense in the year of acquisition.  All other items of property, plant and 
equipment (including assets which are treated as network assets) are capitalised. 

Expenditure necessarily incurred in either maintaining the operational capacity of assets or ensuring that their original life estimates are achieved, is considered 
maintenance and is treated as an expense as incurred.  Pre-feasibility project costs (which may involve research and development) are also treated as an expense in the 
year they are incurred.

Expenditure incurred in accordance with Disaster Recovery Funding Arrangements, on road assets is analysed to determine whether the expenditure is capital in nature 
or not.  The analysis of the expenditure involves Council engineers reviewing the nature and extent of expenditure on a given asset.  For example, expenditure that 
patches a road is generally maintenance in nature, whereas a kerb to kerb rebuild is treated as capital.  Material expenditure that extends the useful life or renews the 
service potential of the asset is capitalised.

Acquisitions of assets are initially recorded at cost.  Cost is determined as the fair value of the assets given as consideration plus costs incidental to the acquisition, 
including freight in, architect's fees and engineering design fees and all other establishment costs.

Property, plant and equipment received in the form of contributions, are recognised as assets and revenues at fair value.

Direct labour and materials and an appropriate proportion of overheads expenditure incurred in the purchase or construction of assets is treated as capital expenditure 
and is included in capital work in progress.  Assets under construction are not depreciated until they are completed and commissioned, at which time they are capitalised 
to the appropriate property, plant and equipment asset class.  

Land is not depreciated as it has an unlimited useful life.  Depreciation on other property, plant and equipment assets is calculated on a straight-line basis so as to write-
off the net cost or revalued amount of each depreciable asset,  progressively over its estimated useful life to Council. Management believes that the straight-line basis 
appropriately reflects the pattern of consumption of all Council assets.

Assets are depreciated from the date of acquisition or, in respect of internally constructed assets, from the time an asset is completed and commissioned ready for use.

Where assets have separately identifiable components that are subject to regular replacement, these components are assigned useful lives distinct from the asset to 
which they relate.  Any expenditure that increases the originally assessed capacity or service potential of an asset is capitalised and the new depreciable amount is 
depreciated over the remaining useful life of the asset.

The cost of property, plant and equipment being constructed by the Council includes the cost of purchased services, materials, direct labour and an appropriate 
proportion of labour on-costs.

The depreciable amount of improvements to or on leasehold land is allocated progressively over the estimated useful lives of the improvements to the Council or the 
unexpired period of the lease, whichever is the shorter.

Depreciation methods and estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted where necessary to 
reflect any changes in the pattern of consumption, physical wear and tear, technical or commercial obsolescence, or management intentions. The condition assessments 
performed as part of the annual valuation process for assets measured at current replacement cost are used to estimate the useful lives of these assets at each reporting 
date. 

Land under the road network within the Council area that has been dedicated and opened for public use under the Land Act 1994 or the Land Title Act 1994  is not 
controlled by Council but is controlled by the state pursuant to the relevant legislation.  Therefore, this land is not recognised in these financial statements.

Each non-current physical and intangible asset and group of assets is assessed for indicators of impairment annually.

Council's valuation policies and procedures are set by Council, based on advice of the Asset Management Steering Committee which comprises the Director of Corporate 
Services, Manager Financial Services, Director of Infrastructure Services and Asset Custodians. Revaluations are undertaken by the Revaluation Working Group with 
procedures reviewed annually taking into consideration an analysis of movements in fair value and other relevant information.
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Recognised fair value measurements
Council measures and recognises the following assets at fair value on a recurring basis:
Investment properties
Property, plant and equipment

- Land and Improvements
- Buildings and Other Structures
- Transport Infrastructure
- Water Infrastructure
- Sewer Infrastructure
- Marine Infrastructure

Note Level 2 Level 2 Level 3 Level 3 Total Total 
(Significant other 

observable 
inputs)

(Significant other 
observable 

inputs)

(Significant 
unobservable 

inputs)

(Significant 
unobservable 

inputs)
Restated

Restated

2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024
$ $ $ $ $ $

Recurring fair value measurements
Investment Property 14    

- Investment property - Land and Buildings 2,950,000           2,785,000           -                    -                    2,950,000           2,785,000           
Property, plant and equipment 15    

- Land and Improvements 24,458,188         48,691,936         31,864,500         -                    56,322,688         48,691,936         
- Buildings and Other Structures -                    -                    129,965,356       128,341,636       129,965,356       128,341,636       
- Transport  Infrastructure -                    -                    674,066,841       675,612,618       674,066,841       675,612,618       
- Water Infrastructure -                    -                    212,385,013       214,255,565       212,385,013       214,255,565       
- Sewerage Infrastructure -                    -                    147,395,375       149,108,963       147,395,375       149,108,963       
- Marine Infrastructure -                    -                    33,340,674         32,944,698         33,340,674         32,944,698         

27,408,188         51,476,936         1,229,017,759    1,200,263,480    1,256,425,947    1,251,740,416    
Non-recurring fair value measurements
Non-current assets held for sale 625,000              625,000              -                    -                    625,000              625,000              

The table presents Council's assets and liabilities measured and recognised at fair value at 30 June 2025. 

An analysis performed by management has indicated that, on average, the variance between an indexed asset value and the valuation by an independent valuer when 
performed is not significant and the indices used by Council are appropriate. This year, as in the past five years, Council has used the Local Government Association of 
Queensland Council Cost index (LGAQ CCI) which is an indicator of cost increases across the range of services and infrastructure delivered by Local Government.  

On revaluation, accumulated depreciation is restated with the change in the carrying amount of the asset and any change in the estimate of remaining useful life.

Separately identified components of assets are measured on the same basis as the assets to which they relate.

In accordance with AASB 13 fair value measurements are categorised on the following basis:
      -  Level 1 - Fair value based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

      -  Level 3 - Fair value based on unobservable inputs for the asset and liability

The fair values of the assets are determined using valuation techniques which maximise the use of observable data, where it is available, and minimise the use of entity 
specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value of an asset are observable, the asset is included in level 2. If one or more of the significant inputs is not 
based on observable market data, the asset is included in level 3. This is the case for Council infrastructure assets, which are of a specialist nature for which there is no 
active market for similar or identical assets.  These assets are valued using a combination of observable and unobservable inputs.

The following table categorises fair value measurements as either level 2 or level 3 in accordance with AASB 13. Council does not have any assets or liabilities measured 
at fair value which meet the criteria for categorisation as level 1.  During the current financial year the valuation of land has been reclassified from level 2 to level 3 within 
the fair value hierarchy.  This change reflects the lack of relevant observable inputs as observable market data is either not available or not sufficiently reliable to support 
a level 2 classification. 

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

      -  Level 2 - Fair value based on inputs that are directly or indirectly observable for the asset or liability

In the intervening years between comprehensive valuations, Council reviews the asset categories for impairment, while checking against industry cost indexes for 
material changes in the fair value of Councils asset portfolio. 

Land and improvements are measured at market value. Buildings and all infrastructure assets are measured on the revaluation basis, at current fair value, in accordance 
with AASB 116 Property, Plant & Equipment and AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement.  Other plant and equipment and work in progress are measured at cost.

Non-current physical assets measured at fair value are revalued, where required, so that the carrying amount of each class of asset does not materially differ from its fair 
value at the reporting date. This is achieved by engaging independent, professionally qualified condition assessors and valuers to determine the condition of the assets 
and the fair value (with the assets condition being one input) for each class of property, plant and equipment assets at least once every 5 years. This comprehensive 
valuation process involves the condition assessor/valuer making their own assessments of the condition of the assets at the date of inspection by either physically 
sighting a representative sample of Council assets across all asset classes or by referring to condition inspection information provided by another suitably qualified party.

Any revaluation increment arising on the revaluation of an asset is credited to the appropriate class of the asset revaluation surplus, except to the extent it reverses a 
revaluation decrement for the class previously recognised as an expense.  A decrease in the carrying amount on revaluation is charged as an expense to the extent it 
exceeds the balance, if any, in the revaluation surplus of that asset class.
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15 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Asset class and fair value 
hierarchy

Valuation 
approach

Last 
comprehensive 
valuation date

Valuer 
engaged

Key assumptions and estimates (related data sources)
Index applied (change in index 

recognised this year)
Other interim revaluation 

adjustment

Land and Improvements 
(level 2)

Comprehensive 30-Jun-25
Herron Todd 
White

Market values have been derived from direct comparison method with local market trends.Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable 
for the assets, either directly or indirectly. Inputs are observable using market data. Adjustments to Level 2 inputs include factors specific to the 
asset, such as the condition, location or comparability of the asset. Level 2 inputs are commonly used in the valuation of property, plant and 
equipment. Land where directly comparable sales evidence is available and limited professional judgement and adjustment/analysis is required.

NIL due to comprehensive 
valuation applied

NIL

Land and Improvements 
(level 3)

Comprehensive 30-Jun-25
Herron Todd 
White

The inputs are based on unobservable inputs for the asset. Unobservable inputs shall be used to measure fair value to the extent that relevant 
observable inputs are not available, thereby allowing situations in which there is little, if any, market activity for the asset or liability at the 
measurement date. Used for specialised assets where there is no definable market activity under the cost approach methodology. Where 
limited or no directly comparable sales evidence exists, and significant professional judgement and adjustment / analysis of the market data is 
required.

NIL due to comprehensive 
valuation applied

NIL   

Buildings and Other 
Structures (level 3)

Comprehensive 30-Jun-23 Assetic Valuers

Inputs to the valuation included the design and construction, average costs of construction, condition and consumption score for each 
component.  

The unobservable inputs used to assess the level of remaining service potential required extensive professional judgement and impacted 
significantly on the final determination of fair value. As such these assets were classified as having been valued using Level 3 valuation inputs. 
This method is based on determining the Replacement Cost of the modern equivalent (or cost of reproduction where relevant) and then 
adjusting for the level of consumed future economic benefit and impairment.

This approach estimated the replacement cost for each asset by componentising the assets into significant parts with different useful lives and 
taking into account a range of factors. As a result, the revaluation for Building and Other Structures are classified as having been valued using 
Level 3 valuation inputs.

NIL   NIL   

Transport  Infrastructure 
(level 3)

Current 
Replacement Cost

30-Jun-24

Shepherd 
Asset 
Management 
Solutions

Value of assets were assessed on the basis of determining the Gross Replacement Cost of the modern equivalent and then adjusting for the 
level of consumed future economic benefit and impairment. 
Valuation Methods:
- First Principles Approach utilising labour rates, plant hire, supply contract costs for raw materials
- Average cost of outsourced projects or internal construction projects
- Benchmarking rate based on surrounding councils audited unit rates
Remaining useful lives calculated utilising independent consulting firm condition inspection data.

NIL   NIL   

Water and Sewer 
Infrastructure (level 3)

Current 
Replacement Cost

30-Jun-24

Shepherd 
Asset 
Management 
Solutions

Gross Replacement Cost  for passive assets was calculated by reference to asset linear and area specifications, estimated labour and material 
inputs, services costs, and overhead allocations.  For internal construction estimates, material and services prices were based on existing 
supplier contract rates or supplier price lists and labour wage rates were based on Council's EA. All direct costs were allocated to assets at 
standard usage quantities according to recently completed similar projects. Where construction is outsourced, CRC was based on the average 
of completed similar projects over the last few years. 

Active Assets conditions data has been prepared utilising the NSW Reference Rates Manual: Valuation of Water Supply, Sewerage and 
Stormwater Assets was used. The manual is published by the NSW Government Office of Water and references actual contract costs 
(including overheads) for the modern equivalent replacement cost for conventional facilities. This document details the asset useful lives for 
each facility which has been compared with WRC staff's knowledge and utilised at the proportional level of each asset.

NIL   NIL   

Marine Infrastructure (level 
3)

Current 
Replacement Cost

30-Jun-24

Shepherd 
Asset 
Management 
Solutions

Valuation Methods:
- First Principles Approach utilising labour rates, plant hire, supply contract costs for raw materials
- Average cost of outsourced projects or internal construction projects
Remaining useful lives calculated utilising independent consulting firm condition inspection data. 

NIL   NIL   

(ii) Valuation techniques used to derive fair values
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2025 2024

$ $

       5,659,585        6,694,019 

(b) Contract liabilities

     19,257,857      15,593,160 

       1,407,134        1,224,385 

     20,664,991      16,817,545 

     20,664,991      16,817,545 

     20,664,991      16,817,545 

Revenue recognised that was included in the contract liability balance at the beginning of the year:

     11,038,800        4,769,265 

          441,731           801,720 

     11,480,531        5,570,985 

17

Deposits received in advance of services provided

Exceptions to lease accounting
 

Council has elected to measure the right of use asset arising from the concessionary leases at cost which is based on the associated lease 
liability at initial recognition.

Council has applied the exceptions to lease accounting for both short-term leases (i.e. leases with a term of less than or equal to 12 months) 
and leases of low-value assets. Council recognises the payments associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over 
the lease term.

Leases at significantly below market value / Concessionary leases

Contract balances

Current contract liabilities

(a) Contract assets

When a performance obligation is satisfied by transferring a promised good or service to the customer before the customer pays 
consideration or  before payment is due, Council presents the work in progress as a contract asset, unless the rights to that amount of 
consideration are unconditional, in which case Council recognises a receivable.

When an amount of consideration is received from a customer / fund provider prior to Council transferring a good or service to the customer, 
Council presents the funds which exceed revenue recognised as a contract liability. 

Where the amounts billed to customers are based on the achievement of various milestones established in the contract, the amounts 
recognised as revenue in a given period do not necessarily coincide with the amounts billed to or certified by the customer. 

Funds received upfront to construct Council controlled assets

Deposits received in advance of services provided

Where Council assesses that an agreement contains a lease, a right of use asset and lease liability is recognised on inception of the lease.  
Council does not separate lease and non-lease components for any class of assets and has accounted for lease payments as a single 
component.

The right-of-use asset is measured using the cost model where cost on initial recognition comprises: the lease liability, initial direct costs, 
prepaid lease payments, estimated cost of removal and restoration, less any lease incentives received. The right-of-use is depreciated over 
the lease term on a straight-line basis and assessed for impairment in accordance with the impairment of asset accounting policy.

The lease liability is initially recognised at the present value of the remaining lease payments at the commencement of the lease. The 
discount rate is the rate implicit in the lease, however where this cannot be readily determined then the Council’s incremental borrowing rate 
for a similar term with similar security is used.

Leases

Council as a lessee

Funds to construct Council controlled assets
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Buildings Equipment Land Total

$ $ $ $

489,361         9,837             1,397,614      1,896,813      

440,087         -               215,494         655,581         

(288,175)        (4,918)            (33,153)          (326,246)        

641,273         4,919             1,579,955      2,226,148      

Buildings Equipment Land Total

$ $ $ $

768,997         42,717           1,428,004      2,239,719      

(279,636)        (32,880)          (30,390)          (342,906)        

489,361         9,837             1,397,614      1,896,813      

2025 2024
$ $

 Balance at start of the year 1,986,553      2,299,114      

 New leases during the year 655,581         -                 

 Less: Payments made in the year (293,571)        (312,561)        

 Balance at end of the year 2,348,563      1,986,553      

 Classified as: 

 Current 312,462         309,262         

 Non-Current 2,036,101      1,677,291      

2,348,563      1,986,553      

< 1 year 1–5 years > 5 years Total

Total per 
Statement of 

Financial 
Position

$ $ $ $ $

2025 355,882         663,721         2,979,687      3,999,290      2,348,563      

2024 356,902         449,645         2,598,377      3,404,924      1,986,553      

Buildings

Council has two building leases for the Cannonvale Library and the Cannonvale Customer Service Centre. The Library lease has been 
extended to March 2028 and the Customer Service Centre lease expires March 2026 and will not be renewed.

Leases (continued)

Balance at 1 July 2024

Additions to right-of-use assets

Balance at 30 June 2025

(a) Right of use assets

The table below shows the maturity analysis of the lease liabilities based on contractual cashflows and therefore the amounts will not be the 
same as the recognised lease liability in the statement of financial position.

Terms and conditions of leases

Land

Council leases ten land assets from the Department of Natural Resources, Mining and Energy.  Five of these land leases have terms of 
between 20 and 100 years, while five have no term i.e. can be cancelled with reasonable notice.

Depreciation charge

Balance at 1 July 2023

Depreciation charge

Balance at 30 June 2024

(b) Lease liabilities

The movement in lease liabilities during the year is as per the table below.
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Council 2025 2024
$ $

            69,364             58,294 

          326,246           342,906 

            66,611           143,280 

          462,221           544,480 

          362,935           370,855 

Leases (continued)

Total cash outflows for leases

The following amounts have been recognised in the statement of comprehensive income for leases where Council is the lessee

For building leases, Council includes extension options which can be exercised at Council's discretion, at each reporting date Council 
assesses whether it is reasonably certain that the extension options will be exercised based on current operations and Council strategy. 

All potential future lease payments have been recognised in the lease liability.

Interest on lease liabilities

Depreciation of right of use assets 

(d) Amounts included in the statement of comprehensive income related to leases

Council has a number of leases at significantly below market for land and buildings which are used for:

The leases are generally between 2 and 100 years and require payments between $100 and $190,000 per annum. The use of the right-to-
use asset is restricted by the lessors to specified community services which Council must provide, these services are detailed in the leases.

Expenses relating to low-value assets

Council does not believe that any of the leases in place are individually material.

Richmond Road/ Bowen Depot Overflow parking
Bowen Tourist Information Centre (Big Mango)
Dingo Beach Transfer Station
Mt Rooper Reservoir
Dingo Beach Telecommunication Facility
Lloyd Robert Jetty
High Tide Area
Water Licence No 577241
Shute Harbour Road, Hamilton Plains (Water Supply)
Black Street Riordanvale (Telecommunications)

(e) Leases at significantly below market value - Concessionary / peppercorn leases

(c) Liabilities not recognised - extension options
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Note $ $

18 Payables

Current
Creditors and accruals 13,070,501           18,718,756           
Other Liabilities 1,509,143             1,447,545             
Prepaid rates 3,607,255             3,496,231             
Accrued wages and salaries 1,172,631             904,845                
Other entitlements 179,203                176,577                

19,538,733           24,743,954           

Non-Current

Other Liabilities 1,570,741             3,079,883             
1,570,741             3,079,883             

Other Liabilities

2025 2025-2026 2026-2027 2027-2028 Total

 $       1,509,142  $       1,570,741  $                   -    $             3,079,883 

 Current 

2024 2024-2025 2025-2026 2026-2027 TOTAL

 $       1,447,545  $       1,509,142  $       1,570,741  $             4,527,428 

 Current 

19 Provisions

Annual Leave

Long Service Leave

Where employees have met the prerequisite length of service and council does not have a right to defer this 
liability beyond 12 months long service leave is classified as a current liability.  Otherwise it is classified as non-
current.

Trade creditors are recognised upon receipt of the goods or satisfactory performance of the services ordered 
and are measured at the agreed purchase/contract price net of applicable discounts other than contingent 
discounts.  Amounts owing are unsecured and are generally settled on 30 day terms.

A liability for long service leave is measured as the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be 
made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date. The value of the liability is 
calculated using current pay rates and projected future increases in those rates and includes related employee 
on-costs. The estimates are adjusted for the probability of the employee remaining in the Council's employment 
or other associated employment which would result in the Council being required to meet the liability.  
Adjustments are then made to allow for the proportion of the benefit earned to date, and the result is discounted 
to present value. The interest rates attaching to Commonwealth Government guaranteed securities at the 
reporting date are used to discount the estimated future cash outflows to their present value. The provision is 
discounted using the Commonwealth Bond yield rates published on the Department of State Development and 
Infrastructure website.

A liability for annual leave is recognised. Amounts expected to be settled within 12 months are calculated on 
current wage and salary levels and includes related employee on-costs. Amounts not expected to be settled 
within 12 months are calculated on projected future wage and salary levels and related employee on-costs, and 
are discounted to present values.

As Council does not have a right to defer this liability beyond 12 months, annual leave is classified as a current 
liability.

In 2022, the State government made an advance lump payment to Council of $5,828,035 to cover the next four financial years of 
the State Waste Levy to ensure households are not indirectly affected by the levy.  

Bringing these payments forward as a lump sum payment provides council with greater flexibility when making investment 
decisions to help reduce waste generation and increase resource recovery.  This will also provide an opportunity for early adopters 
of waste diversion to redirect any potential advance payment savings into other recovery initiatives for their community betterment.

Waste Levy

Waste Levy

In 2023, the State government made an advance lump payment to Council of $1,541,591 to cover the 2026/27 financial year of the 
State Waste Levy to ensure households are not indirectly affected by the levy.  

In 2024 and 2025, the State government did not make any advance payments of the State Waste Levy.  

 Non-Current 

 Non-Current 

A liability for salaries and wages is recognised and measured as the amount unpaid at the reporting date at 
current pay rates in respect of employees' services up to that date. 
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19 Provisions (continued)

Quarry rehabilitation

Details of movements in provision:
Balance at the beginning of financial year 963,818                744,966                
Increase in provision - due to change in time 7                       44,962                  32,109                  
Increase/(decrease) in provision on Council held land - change in discount rate 21                     (5,624)                   (8,286)                   
Increase/(decrease) in provision on Council controlled land - change in discount rate 4                       (23,976)                 (35,325)                 
Increase/(decrease) in estimate of future cost on Council held land 21                     5,801                    8,463                    
Increase/(decrease) in estimate of future cost on Council held land 8                       20,330                  35,304                  
Increase/(decrease) in estimate of future cost Council controlled land 8                       111,399                186,587                
Balance at end of financial year 1,116,710             963,818                

Landfill remediation

Details of movements in provision:
Balance at the beginning of financial year 31,762,199           21,437,312           
Increase/(decrease) due to change in estimate of costs of future obligations at landfill sites 8                       9,231,339             10,148,870           
Increase/(decrease) due to change in discount rate 4                       (2,428,640)            (367,186)               
Increase in provision - due to change in time 7                       1,248,382             876,860                
Amount expended in current year (1,694,274)            (333,657)               
Balance at end of financial year 38,119,006           31,762,199           

Current

Landfill remediation 9,604,021             5,101,660             
Annual Leave 4,488,407             4,664,910             
Long service leave 5,074,938             4,995,155             

19,167,366           14,761,725           

Non-Current
Landfill remediation 28,514,985           26,660,539           
Long service leave 1,920,756             2,076,174             
Quarry rehabilitation 1,116,710             963,818                

31,552,451           29,700,531           

A provision is made for the cost of restoration in respect of the quarry where it is probable the Council will be 
liable, or required, to incur such a cost on the cessation of use of this facility. The provision is measured at the 
expected cost of the work required, discounted to current day values using the interest rates attaching to 
Commonwealth Government guaranteed securities with a maturity date corresponding to the anticipated date of 
the restoration. 

Management estimates that the restoration will occur in 2042.

Breakdown of provisions between current and non-current:

The provision represents the present value of the anticipated future costs associated with the closure of the 
quarry, reclamation and rehabilitation of these sites.  The calculation of this provision requires assumptions such 
as application of environmental legislation, site closure dates, available technologies and engineering cost 
estimates. These uncertainties may result in future actual expenditure differing from amounts currently provided. 
Because of the long-term nature of the liability, the most significant uncertainty in estimating the provision is the 
costs that will be incurred. The provision recognised is reviewed annually and updated based on the facts and 
circumstances available at the time. 

The provision is the present value of the estimated cost of restoring the Foxdale Quarry site to a usable state at 
the end of its useful life.  The projected cost is $2,386,163 and this cost is expected to be incurred in 2042.

A provision is made for the monitoring and future remediation activities at currently operating as well as closed 
landfill sites, where it is probable that Council will be liable for undertaking such activities and incurring such 
costs at a future date. The provision is measured at the expected cost of the work required, discounted to 
current day values using an appropriate cost of capital figure.

The provision represents the present value of the anticipated future costs associated with the monitoring and 
remediating the landfill sites within the region.  The calculation of this provision requires assumptions such as 
application of environmental legislation, site closure dates, available technologies and engineering cost 
estimates. These uncertainties may result in future actual expenditure differing from amounts currently provided. 
Because of the long-term nature of the liability, the most significant uncertainty in estimating the provision is the 
costs that will be incurred in the future. Management estimates that costs will be incurred annually over future 
years between 2025 and 2080. The provision  will be reviewed annually and updated based on the facts and 
circumstances available at the time. 
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20 Borrowings

Current
Queensland Treasury Corporation 6,283,873             6,026,073             

Non-Current
Queensland Treasury Corporation 51,107,776           57,304,874           

Total Borrowings 27                     57,391,649           63,330,947           

Movements in borrowings
Queensland Treasury Corporation

Balance at the beginning of financial year 63,330,947           69,014,791           
Principal repayments (5,939,298)            (5,683,844)            
Balance at end of financial year 27                     57,391,649           63,330,947           

21 Asset revaluation surplus

Movements in the Asset Revaluation Surplus were as follows:
Balance at the beginning of financial year 536,829,658         433,807,357         

Adjustments to property, plant and equipment through revaluations  
Land and Improvements 7,766,998             -                      
Water infrastructure -                       74,890,670           
Sewerage infrastructure -                       (5,433,531)            
Transport infrastructure -                       33,565,339           

Change in value of future rehabilitation costs credited (charged) to the surplus -                       (177)                      
7,766,998             103,022,301         

Balance at end of financial year 544,596,656         536,829,658         

Borrowings are underwritten by the Queensland State Government.

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to 
initial recognition these liabilities are measured at amortised cost.

In accordance with the Local Government Regulation 2012  Council adopts an annual Debt (Borrowing) Policy 
that sets out Council's planned borrowings for the next nine years.  Council's current policy is to only borrow for 
capital projects and for a term no longer than the expected life of the asset.  Council also aims to comply with the 
Queensland Treasury Corporation's borrowing guidelines and ensure that sustainability indicators remain within 
acceptable levels at all times. All borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. 

This represents the value of the debt if Council repaid it at that date. As it is the intention of Council to hold the 
debt for its term, no provision is required to be made in these accounts.

The QTC loan market value at the reporting date was $53,585,686.

There have been no defaults or breaches of the loan agreement during the period.

Principal and interest repayments are made quarterly in arrears. 

Increases and decreases on revaluation are offset within a class of assets.

Unsecured borrowings are provided by the Queensland Treasury Corporation.

No interest has been capitalised during the current or comparative reporting period.   Expected final repayment 
dates vary from 15 June 2026 to 15 June 2040.

The asset revaluation surplus comprises adjustments relating to changes in value of property, plant and 
equipment that do not result from the use of those assets.  Net incremental changes in the carrying value of 
classes of non-current assets since their initial recognition are accumulated in the asset revaluation surplus.

Where a class of assets is decreased on revaluation, that decrease is offset first against the amount remaining 
in the asset revaluation surplus in respect of that class.  Any excess is treated as an expense.

When an asset is disposed of, the amount reported in surplus in respect of that asset is retained in the asset 
revaluation surplus and not transferred to retained surplus.

No assets have been pledged as security by the council for any liabilities.
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21 Asset revaluation surplus (continued)

Asset revaluation surplus analysis
The closing balance of the asset revaluation surplus is comprised of the
following asset categories:

Land and improvements 16,938,183           9,171,185             
Buildings and other structures 18,837,050           18,837,050           
Transport infrastructure 364,975,546         364,975,546         
Water infrastructure 106,648,472         106,648,472         
Sewerage infrastructure 37,197,405           37,197,405           

544,596,656         536,829,658         

22 Commitments for expenditure

Capital commitments
Commitment exclusive of GST for the construction of the following assets, contracted for 
at the reporting date, but not recognised as liabilities are as follows:

Fleet Replacements 163,776                2,243,793             
Regional Amenity Upgrades and New Installations -                       23,492                  
Collinsville Community Hub Design & Precinct Masterplan 566,705                -                       
Project Management Services - Water/Sewer and Waste Capital Program - Contract 1 1,123,947             -                       
Project Management Services - Water/Sewer and Waste Capital Program - Contract 2 1,643,836             -                       
Cannon Valley Network Reconfiguration 69,441                  749,270                
Bowen and Proserpine Swimming Pools - Solar Shade Structures 470,541                -                       
Kelsey Creek Landfill -                       2,115,479             
Superintendency Services for Water and Sewer Projects 481,311                343,417                
Collinsville Swimming Pool - Design & Construction of Bulkhead & Retiling -                       657,302                
Disaster Recovery DRFA 3,918,956             14,660,593           
Other Assets 3,194,252             4,521,202             

These expenditures are payable within one year 11,632,765           25,314,547           

23 Events after reporting period

There were no material adjusting or disclosing events after the balance date.

24 Contingent liabilities
Details and estimates of maximum amounts of contingencies are as follows:

Local Government Workcare

1,209,423             1,106,072             

Local Government Mutual

Accumulated surplus: 72,144,102           71,860,112           

Enterprise Bargaining Agreement

Council is a member of the local government mutual liability self-insurance pool, LGM Queensland. In the 
event of the pool being wound up or is unable to meet its debts as they fall due, the trust deed and rules 
provide that any accumulated deficit will be met by the individual pool members in the same proportion as 
their contribution to the total pool contributions in respect to any year that a deficit arises.  At 30 June 2024 
the Financial Statements reported an accumulated surplus and it is not anticipated any liability will arise.

Council is currently negotiating a new Enterprise Bargaining Agreement which has not yet been finalised or 
voted on. The proposed terms are expected to increase employee entitlements. While a future adjustment 
to Employee Benefit provisions is probable, the financial impact cannot be reliably estimated at this time. 
Any change will be recognised once the agreement is approved.

Council's maximum exposure to the bank guarantee is:

The Council is a member of the Queensland local government workers compensation self-insurance 
scheme, Local Government Workcare. Under this scheme Council has provided a bank guarantee to cover 
bad debts which may remain should the self insurance licence be cancelled and there was insufficient funds 
available to cover outstanding liabilities. Only the Queensland Government's workers compensation 
authority may call on any part of the guarantee should the above circumstances arise. 
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Restated

25 Superannuation

110,469                122,572                

4,722,307                          4,117,788 

Total superannuation contributions paid by Council for employees: 5                       4,832,776             4,240,360             

26 Reconciliation of net result for the year to net cash 
inflow from operating activities

Net result 11,899,327           (10,754,977)          

Non-cash operating items
Impairment of receivables and bad debts written off 7                       (329,959)               317,082                
Depreciation 37,653,750           31,684,485           
Change in restoration provisions expensed to finance costs 7                       1,293,344             908,969                

38,617,135           32,910,536           
Investing and development activities (non-cash)

Capital grants, subsidies and contributions 3 (d) (ii) (33,508,689)          (40,738,930)          
Capital income 4                       (2,808,145)            (1,134,653)            
Capital expenses 8                       24,143,477           49,492,736           

(12,173,357)          7,619,153             
Changes in operating assets and liabilities 

(Increase)/ decrease in receivables (4,823,201)            (1,310,449)            
(Increase)/ decrease in other assets (1,033,442)            (1,660,794)            
(Increase)/ decrease in contract assets (1,006,700)            (266,724)               
(Increase)/ decrease in inventories (520,290)               190,545                
Increase/ (decrease) in payables (6,714,362)            6,498,836             
Increase/ (decrease) in contract liabilities 182,749                (288,280)               
Increase/ (decrease) in provisions (252,138)               715,341                

(14,167,384)          3,878,475             

Net cash inflow from operating activities 24,175,721           33,653,187           

Other superannuation contributions for employees

The most significant risks that may result in Brighter super increasing the contribution rate, on the advice of 
the actuary, are:

Investment risk - The risk that the scheme's investment returns will be lower than assumed and 
additional contributions are needed to fund the shortfall.

Salary growth risk - The risk that wages or salaries will rise more rapidly than assumed, increasing 
vested benefits to be funded.

Council contributes to the Brighter Super Regional Defined Benefits Fund (the scheme), at the rate of 12% 
for each permanent employee who is a defined benefit member. This rate is set in accordance with the 
Brighter Super trust deed and may be varied on the advice of an actuary. The Regional Defined Benefits 
Fund is a complying superannuation scheme for the purpose of the Commonwealth Superannuation 
Industry (Supervision) legislation and is also governed by the Local Government Act 2009 .  The scheme is 
managed by the Brighter super trustee.

The scheme is a pooled defined benefit plan and it is not in accordance with the deed to allocate 
obligations, plan assets and costs at the council level.

Any amount by which the scheme is over or under funded may affect future benefits and result in a change 
to the contribution rate obligations, but has not been recognised as an asset or liability of Council.

Technically Council can be liable to the scheme for a portion of another local governments’ obligations 
should that local government be unable to meet them. However the risk of this occurring is extremely low 
and in accordance with the LGIA super trust deed changes to Council's obligations will only be made on the 
advice of an actuary.

The last completed actuarial assessment of the scheme was undertaken as at 1 July 2024. The actuary 
indicated that “At the valuation date of 1 July 2024, the net assets of the scheme exceeded the vested 
benefits and the scheme was in a satisfactory financial position as at the valuation date." The measure of 
vested benefits represents the value of benefit entitlements should all participating employees voluntarily 
exit the scheme. The Council is not aware of anything that has happened since that time that indicates the 
assets of the scheme are not sufficient to meet the vested benefits, as at the reporting date.

No changes have been made to prescribed employer contributions which remain at 12% of employee salary 
or wages and there are no known requirements to change the rate of contributions.

The next triennial actuarial review is due on 1 July 2027.

Superannuation contributions made to the Regional Defined Benefits Fund
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27 Financial instruments and financial risk management
(a) Financial assets and financial liabilities
Council has exposure to the following risks arising from financial instruments:

• credit risk
• liquidity risk
• market risk

Risk management framework

Credit risk

Liquidity risk

2025
$

2024
$

Overdraft - QTC working capital facility - limit 20,000,000       20,000,000       
Available at 30 June 20,000,000       20,000,000       

Exposure to liquidity risk

Council manages its exposure to liquidity risk by maintaining sufficient cash deposits and undrawn facilities, both short and long 
term, to cater for unexpected volatility in cash flows. These facilities are disclosed in Note 20. The following lines of credit were 
available at the end of the reporting period:

Council is responsible for the establishment and oversight of the risk management framework, together with developing and monitoring risk 
management policies.

Council's Audit and Risk Committee approves policies for overall risk management, as well as providing oversight of Council's credit, liquidity and 
market risks.

Council's risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced, to set appropriate limits and controls and to monitor these 
risks and adherence against limits.  Council aims to manage volatility to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of Council.

Council's Audit and Risk Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Council's risk management policies and procedures, and 
reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by Council.  The audit committee is assisted in its oversight role 
by the internal audit function.  Internal audit undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and procedures, the results of 
which are reported to the audit committee.

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss if a counterparty to the financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations.  These obligations arise 
principally from Council's investments and receivables from customers.

Exposure to credit risk is managed through regular analysis of credit counterparty ability to meet payment obligations. 

Investments in financial instruments are required to be made with Queensland Treasury Corporation (QTC) or similar State and Commonwealth bodies 
or financial institutions in Australia, in line with the requirements of the Statutory Bodies Financial Arrangements Act 1982.

No collateral is held as security relating to the financial assets held by Council.

The carrying amounts of financial assets at the end of the reporting period represent the maximum exposure to credit risk for Council.

Liquidity risk is the risk that Council will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering 
cash or another financial asset. 

Council's approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when they are due, 
under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to Council's reputation.

Council is exposed to liquidity risk through its normal course of business and through its borrowings with QTC.
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27 Financial instruments and financial risk management (continued)

(a) Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

0-1 year

$

1 to 5 years

$

Over 5 years

$

Total 
contractual 
cash flows

$

Carrying 
amount

$

2025
Trade and other payables          19,538,733           1,570,741                       -           21,109,474         21,109,474 
Loans - QTC            8,223,105         29,807,243         29,277,255         67,307,603         57,391,649 

         27,761,838         31,377,984         29,277,255         88,417,077         78,501,123 
2024

Trade and other payables          24,743,954           3,079,883                       -           27,823,837         27,823,837 
Loans - QTC            8,223,105         31,264,825         36,042,778         75,530,708         63,330,947 

         32,967,059         34,344,708         36,042,778       103,354,545         91,154,784 

Market risk

Interest rate risk

Sensitivity

Net carrying 
amount

$

1% increase

$

1% decrease

$

1% increase

$

1% decrease

$
2025
Cash and cash equivalents        114,104,000           1,141,040 (1,141,040)                  1,141,040 (1,141,040)        
Investments          10,000,000              100,000 (100,000)                        100,000 (100,000)           
Loans - QTC (57,391,649)                              -                         -                         -                         -   

         66,712,351           1,241,040 (1,241,040)                  1,241,040 (1,241,040)        

2024

Cash and cash equivalents        116,414,816           1,164,148 (1,164,148)        1,164,148         (1,164,148)        
Investments          20,000,000              200,000 (200,000)                        200,000 (200,000)           
Loans - QTC         (63,330,947)                       -                         -                         -                         -   

         73,083,869           1,364,148 (1,364,148)                  1,364,148 (1,364,148)        

(b) Fair value

Measurement of fair value

The following interest rate sensitivity analysis depicts what effect a reasonably possible change in interest rates (assumed to be 1%) would have on the 
net profit and total community equity, based on the carrying values at the end of the reporting period. The calculation assumes that the change in 
interest rates would be held constant over the period.

In relation to the QTC loans held by the Council, the following has been applied:

QTC Fixed Rate Loan - financial instruments with fixed interest rates which are carried at amortised cost are not subject to interest rate sensitivity.

The fair value of trade and other receivables and payables is assumed to approximate the value of the original transaction, less any allowance for 
impairment.

The valuation technique used in measuring other financial liabilities is discounted cash flows.  This valuation model considers the present value of 
expected payments, discounted using a risk-adjusted discount rate.

The outflows in the above table are not expected to occur significantly earlier or for significantly different amounts than indicated in the table.

The following table sets out the liquidity risk in relation to financial liabilities (excluding lease liabilities) held by Council. It represents 
the remaining contractual cashflows (principal and interest) of financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period, excluding the 
impact of netting agreements:

Market risk is the risk that changes in market indices, such as interest rates, will affect Council's income or the value of its holdings 
of financial instruments.

Council is exposed to interest rate risk through investments with QTC and other financial institutions.  Council has access to a mix of 
variable and fixed rate funding options through these institutions so that interest rate risk exposure can be minimised.

Sensitivity to interest rate movements is shown for variable financial assets and liabilities based on the carrying amount at reporting 
date.

Effect on Net Result Effect on Equity
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27 Financial instruments and financial risk management (continued)

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

2025
As at 

30 June 2024
Cash flows Non-cash 

changes 
As at 

30 June 2025
Loans 63,330,947         (5,939,298)                              -   57,391,649
Lease liability 1,986,553                      (293,571)              655,581           2,348,563 

65,317,500                 (6,232,869)              655,581 59,740,212

2024
As at 

30 June 2023
Cash flows Non-cash 

changes 
As at 

30 June 2024
Loans 69,014,791         (5,683,844)                              -   63,330,947
Lease liability 2,299,114           (312,561)                                 -             1,986,553 

71,313,905         (5,996,405)        -                  65,317,500

28 National competition policy

A "business activity" of a local government is any activity that involves trading in goods or services.

The code of competitive conduct (CCC) must be applied to the following business activities

(a)    A building certifying activity that
(i) involves performing building certifying functions within the meaning of the Building Act , section 8; and

(ii) is prescribed under a regulation*.

*Section 38 of the Local Government Regulation 2012  lists the local government's whose activities are 

prescribed building certifying activities

(b)      A roads activity, other than a roads activity for which business in conducted only through
       a sole supplier arrangement, that involves

   (i) the construction or maintenance of state controlled roads for which the local government submits an offer 
        to carry out work in response to a tender invitation.
  (ii) construction or road maintenance on another local government's roads which the local government has
       put out to tender.

Each local government may elect to apply a Code of Competitive Conduct (CCC) to any other identified business
activities.  However, for any with current expenditure of $340,000 or more, the local government must decide, by
resolution each year, whether to apply the CCC to that activity.

 
In general, applying the competitive code of conduct means that the competitive neutrality principle is applied to the
business activity.

 
Under the competitive neutrality principle, an entity that is conducting a business activity in competition with the 
private sector should not enjoy a net advantage over competitors only because the entity is in the public sector.
 
The competitive neutrality principle may be applied by commercialisation or full cost pricing.  This includes removing
any competitive advantage or disadvantage, where possible, and charging for goods and services at full cost.
 
In addition, the cost of performing community service obligations, less any revenue received from carrying out those
obligations, must be treated as revenue for the business activity.
 
A community service obligation is an obligation the local government imposes on a business activity that is not in its
commercial interest.  For example, giving a concession to pensioners.
 
A local government's financial statements must contain an activity statement for each business activity to which
the CCC applies.
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28 National competition policy (continued)

The Council applies the competitive code of conduct to the following activities

Whitsunday Coast Airport

Foxdale Quarry 

Shute Harbour Marine Terminal

Waste and Recycling Services

Water Supply & Sewerage Services

Whitsunday Holiday Parks 

This requires the application of full cost pricing, identifying the cost of community service obligations (CSO) 

and eliminating the advantages and disadvantages of public ownership within that activity. 

The CSO value is determined by Council, and represents an activity's cost(s) which would not be incurred if 

the primary objective of the activities was to make a profit. The Council provides funding from general revenue 

to the business activity to cover the net cost of providing non-commercial community services.

The following table summarises the financial results for the business activities, including competitive neutrality adjustments if applicable.

The following activity statements are for activities subject to the competitive code of conduct:

For the year 2025 financial year
Whitsunday 

Coast Airport
Foxdale Quarry 

Shute Harbour 
Marine Terminal

Waste and 
Recycling 
Services

Water Supply & 
Sewerage 
Services

Whitsunday 
Holiday Parks

2025 2025 2025 2025 2025 2025
$ $ $ $ $ $

Revenue for services provided to external clients 9,700,021           2,761,001          3,864,048          15,306,903        44,013,824        1,395,938              
Community service obligations * 61,766                -                  194,200             159,591             1,155,056          16,867                  

9,761,787           2,761,001          4,058,248          15,466,494        45,168,880        1,412,805              
Less  : Expenditure 8,659,767           3,132,503          4,648,440          15,156,622        35,331,109        1,200,441              
Surplus  (deficiency) 1,102,020           (371,502)            (590,192)            309,872             9,837,771          212,364                

For the year 2024 financial year
Whitsunday 

Coast Airport
Foxdale Quarry 

Shute Harbour 
Marine Terminal

Waste and 
Recycling 
Services

Water Supply & 
Sewerage 
Services

Whitsunday 
Holiday Parks

2024 2024 2024 2024 2024 2024
$ $ $ $ $ $

Revenue for services provided to external clients 9,228,895           3,004,865          3,825,190          12,723,935        41,300,009        1,383,654              
Community service obligations * 94,008                -                  20,400               109,631             1,087,735          -                      

9,322,903           3,004,865          3,845,590          12,833,566        42,387,744        1,383,654              
Less  : Expenditure 8,729,827           3,304,456          4,742,088          11,865,975        32,786,146        1,197,447              
Surplus  (deficiency) 593,076              (299,591)            (896,498)            967,591             9,601,598          186,207                

* CSO's provided to business activities during the period.

2025 2024
Actual Actual

Activities $ $
Whitsunday Coast Airport 61,766               94,008               
Shute Harbour Marine Terminal 194,200             20,400               
Waste and Recycling Services 64,208               78,457               
Waste and Recycling Services 95,383               31,174               
Water Supply & Sewerage Services 314,726             285,305             
Water Supply & Sewerage Services 840,330             802,430             
Whitsunday Holiday Parks 16,867               -                  

1,587,480          1,311,774          

Permanent Resident Concession
Sporting/community organisation concessions

CSO description
Landing fees to support essential services 
Berthing fees to support essential services
Pensioner concessions 
Sporting/community organisation concessions
Pensioner concessions 
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2025 2024

Note $ $

29 Transactions with Related Parties

Council have Councillors as representative on both the Don River Improvement Trust and the 
Whitsunday River Improvement Trust. They are represented in the membership of the trusts 
pursuant to the River Improvement Act 1940 . Council pays a precept to each trust, which is 
determined by the Trusts, based on the amount of revenue estimated by the trust in their 
budget for the year. 

Don River Improvement Trust 202,646                195,039                

Whitsunday River Improvement Trust 202,646                195,039                

405,292                390,078                

Short-term employee benefits 2,398,611             2,568,220             

Post-employment benefits 266,172                278,120                

Long-term benefits 53,439                  205,152                
2,718,222             3,051,492             

(i) Employee expenses for close family members of key management personnel.

564,914                525,340                

Council have reviewed all other related party transactions and found that there were no 
materially relevant amounts to report.  There are no loans or guarantees  to/from related 
parties.

Most of the entities and people that are related parties of Council live and operate within the 
Whitsunday Regional Council. Therefore, on a regular basis ordinary citizen transactions occur 
between Council and its related parties. Some examples include:

 - Payment of rates
 - Animal registration 
 - Borrowing books from a council library

Council employs 432 staff of which only 7 are close family members of key management personnel 
(2023/24: 8 close family members). Total employee expenses applicable to these 7 employees are:-

(d) Transactions with related parties that have not been disclosed

(a) River Improvement Trusts

(b) Transactions with key management personnel (KMP)

KMP include the Mayor, Councillors, Council's Chief Executive Officer and some Executive 
Management.  The compensation paid to KMP comprises: 

Detailed remuneration disclosures are provided in the annual report.

(c) Transactions with other related parties

All close family members of key management personnel were employed through an arm’s length 
process. They are paid in accordance with the Award and Council Enterprise Bargaining Agreement for 
the duties they perform. 
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Whitsunday Regional Council

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2025

30 Prior period error

Statement of Comprehensive Income (Extract)
Original balance as 

presented at 30 June 
2024

Adjustment
Restated balance at 30 

June 2024

Restated Restated
Capital Income

Grants, subsidies, contributions & donations 33,725,703                   7,013,227               40,738,930                   
Total capital income 34,860,356                   7,013,227               41,873,583                   
Total income 183,426,646                 7,013,227               190,439,873                 
Net result (17,768,204)                  7,013,227               (10,754,977)                  
Total comprehensive income for the year 85,254,097                   7,013,227               92,267,324                   

Statement of Financial Position  (Extract)
Original balance as 

presented at 30 June 
2024

Adjustment
Restated balance at 30 

June 2024

Restated Restated
Non-current assets 

Property, plant & equipment 1,364,455,505              9,749,685               1,374,205,190              
Total non-current assets 1,369,141,318              9,749,685               1,378,891,003              
Total assets 1,534,130,100              9,749,685               1,543,879,785              

Net Community assets 1,379,708,962              9,749,685               1,389,458,647              
Community Equity
Retained surplus 842,879,304                 9,749,685               852,628,989                 
Total community equity 1,379,708,962              9,749,685               1,389,458,647              

Statement of Changes in Equity (Extract)
Original balance as 

presented at 30 June 
2024

Adjustment
Restated balance at 30 

June 2024

Restated Restated
Prior period adjustment for recognition of non-current 
assets -                              2,736,458               2,736,458                     
Net Result (17,768,204)                  7,013,227               (10,754,977)                  
Total comprehensive income for the year (17,768,204)                  7,013,227               (10,754,977)                  
Balance of Retained Surplus 842,879,304                 9,749,685               852,628,989                 

During the 2024/25 financial year, Council identified contributed infrastructure assets totalling $7,013,227 for which control had been 
obtained in a prior year. These assets were not previously recognised, resulting in an understatement of both revenue and property, 
plant and equipment in the 2023/24 financial statements.

Additionally, in 2024/25, Council identified a further $2,736,458 in contributed infrastructure assets for which control had been obtained 
prior to 1 July 2023. These assets should have been recognised in financial years prior to 2022/23, in accordance with the recognition 
criteria.

Due to materiality considerations, no retrospective adjustments were made for depreciation relating to these assets.

To address the impact of these prior period errors, Council has restated the 2023/24 comparative figures in the following financial 
statements:

Statement of Comprehensive Income
Statement of Financial Position
Statement of Changes in Equity
Relevant notes to the financial statements

Details of the adjustments affecting the 2023/24 comparative year are presented below.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To the councillors of Whitsunday Regional Council 

Report on the audit of the financial report 
Opinion 

I have audited the financial report of Whitsunday Regional Council.  

The financial report comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2025, the 
statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash 
flows for the year then ended, notes to the financial statements including material accounting 
policy information and the certificate given by the Mayor and Chief Executive Officer. 

In my opinion, the financial report: 

a) gives a true and fair view of the council’s financial position as at 30 June 2025, and of its 
financial performance for the year then ended; and 

b) complies with the Local Government Act 2009, the Local Government Regulation 2012 and 
Australian Accounting Standards. 

Basis for opinion 

I conducted my audit in accordance with the Auditor-General Auditing Standards, which 
incorporate the Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report 
section of my report. 

I am independent of the council in accordance with the ethical requirements of the 
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards) (the Code) that are relevant 
to my audit of the financial report in Australia. I have also fulfilled my other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the Code and the Auditor-General Auditing Standards.  

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for my opinion. 

Other information 

The councillors are responsible for the other information. 

The other information comprises the information included in the entity’s annual report for the 
year ended 30 June 2025, but does not include the financial report and our auditor’s report 
thereon.  

At the date of this auditor’s report, the available other information in Whitsunday Regional 
Council’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2025 was the current-year financial 
sustainability statement, current-year financial sustainability statement - contextual ratios 
(unaudited), unaudited long-term financial sustainability statement and the annual report. 
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My opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly I do 
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. However, as required by the Local 
Government Regulation 2012, I have formed a separate opinion on the current year financial 
sustainability statement. 

In connection with my audit of the financial report, my responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the financial report and my knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude that there is a material misstatement of 
this information, I am required to report that fact. I have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the councillors for the financial report 

The councillors are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true 
and fair view in accordance with the Local Government Act 2009, the Local Government 
Regulation 2012 and Australian Accounting Standards, and for such internal control as the 
councillors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that is 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

The councillors are also responsible for assessing the council’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless it is intended to abolish the council or to otherwise cease 
operations of the council.  

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report 

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a 
whole is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian 
Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of this financial report. 

A further description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the 
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board website at:  

https://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar4.pdf  

This description forms part of my auditor’s report. 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements  

In accordance with s. 40 of the Auditor-General Act 2009, for the year ended 30 June 2025: 

a) I received all the information and explanations I required 

b) I consider that, the prescribed requirements in relation to the establishment and keeping 
of accounts were complied with in all material respects. 
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Prescribed requirements scope 
The prescribed requirements for the establishment and keeping of accounts are contained in 
the Local Government Act 2009, and the Local Government Regulation 2012. The applicable 
requirements include those for keeping financial records that correctly record and explain the 
council’s transactions and account balances to enable the preparation of a true and fair 
financial report. 

 
 
 18 September 2025 
 
Jacques Coetzee Queensland Audit Office 
as delegate of the Auditor-General Brisbane 
 
 

Jacques Coetzee
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
To the Councillors of Whitsunday Regional Council 
 
Report on the Current-Year Financial Sustainability Statement 

Opinion 

I have audited the accompanying current year financial sustainability statement of 
Whitsunday Regional Council for the year ended 30 June 2025, comprising the statement, 
explanatory notes, and the certificate of accuracy given by the Mayor and the Chief 
Executive Officer. 

In accordance with s.212 of the Local Government Regulation 2012, in my opinion, in all 
material respects, the current year financial sustainability statement of Whitsunday Regional 
Council for the year ended 30 June 2025 has been accurately calculated. 

Basis of opinion  

I conducted my audit in accordance with the Auditor-General Auditing Standards, which 
incorporate the Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the current year financial 
sustainability statement section of my report.  

I am independent of the council in accordance with the ethical requirements of the 
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board APES 110 Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards) (the Code) that are relevant 
to my audit of the statement in Australia. I have also fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with the Code and the Auditor-General Auditing Standards. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for my opinion. 

Emphasis of matter – basis of accounting 

I draw attention to Note 1 which describes the basis of accounting. The current year financial 
sustainability statement has been prepared in accordance with the Financial Management 
(Sustainability) Guideline 2024 for the purpose of fulfilling the council’s reporting 
responsibilities under the Local Government Regulation 2012. As a result, the statement 
may not be suitable for another purpose. My opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

Other Information 

The councillors are responsible for the other information. 

The other information comprises the information included in the entity’s annual report for the 
year ended 30 June 2025, but does not include the financial sustainability statement and our 
auditor’s report thereon.  

At the date of this auditor’s report, the available other information in Whitsunday Regional 
Council’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2025 was the general-purpose financial 
statements, current-year financial sustainability statement - contextual ratios,  and the long-
term financial sustainability statement. 

Attachment 12.1.1 Audited Financial Statements 2024/25

This is page 46 of the Supplementary Agenda of Council's Ordinary Council Meeting - Wednesday 24 September 2025



 
My opinion on the current year financial sustainability statement does not cover the other 
information and accordingly I do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
However, as required by the Local Government Regulation 2012, I have formed a separate 
opinion on the general-purpose financial report. 

In connection with my audit of the financial sustainability statement, my responsibility is to 
read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the financial sustainability statement and my knowledge obtained 
in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude that there is a material misstatement of 
this information, I am required to report that fact. I have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the councillors for the current year financial sustainability 
statement 

The councillors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the current year 
financial sustainability statement in accordance with the Local Government Regulation 2012. 
The councillors responsibility also includes such internal control as the councillors determine 
is necessary to enable the preparation and fair presentation of the statement that is 
accurately calculated and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the current year financial sustainability 
statement 

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the current year financial 
sustainability statement as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is 
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of this statement.  

My responsibility does not extend to forming an opinion on the appropriateness or relevance 
of the reported ratios, nor on the council’s future sustainability. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also:  

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the statement, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the council’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of material accounting policy information used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the council. 
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I communicate with the council regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that I identify during my audit. 

 

 

18 September 2025 
Jacques Coetzee Queensland Audit Office 
as delegate of the Auditor-General  Brisbane 

 

Jacques Coetzee
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Queensland Audit Office Phone 07 3149 6000 
Level 13, 53 Albert Street, Brisbane Qld 4000 Email qao@qao.qld.gov.au 
PO Box 15396, City East Qld 4002 Web www.qao.qld.gov.au 
 Queensland Audit Office (QAO) 

OFFICIAL 

   

Mr R Collins 

Mayor 

Whitsunday Regional Council 

 

Dear Mayor 

Final management report for Whitsunday Regional Council 

We have completed our 2025 financial audit for Whitsunday Regional Council. We issued unmodified audit 

opinions on your financial statements and the current-year financial sustainability statement. 

The purpose of this report is to update you on any matters that have arisen since we provided our interim report 

to Council on 1 May 2025. 

Reporting on issues identified after the closing report 

I can confirm that we have not identified significant issues since the presentation of our closing report to the 

audit committee. The issues and other matters we have formally reported to management and an update on 

management’s actions taken to resolve these issues is included as Appendix A. 

Please note that under section 213 of the Local Government Regulation 2012, you must present a copy of this 

report at your council’s next ordinary meeting. 

Report to parliament 

Each year, we report the results of all financial audits and significant issues to parliament.  

We intend to include the results of our audit of your entity in our report to parliament Local Government 2025. 

We will comment on the results of our audit, any significant internal control issues, and the overall results for 

the sector including major transactions and events. We will discuss the proposed report content with your entity 

contact and continue to consult as we draft it. Formally, entities have an opportunity to comment on our report, 

and for these comments to be included in the final version tabled in parliament. 

Audit fee 

The final audit fee for this year is $148,500, exclusive of GST. This fee is higher than the $143,000 estimated in 

our external audit plan. We have discussed the key factors contributing to the fee variation with your Manager 

Financial Services. In summary, these matters were the additional audit work required to complete three LRCI 

acquittals and the prior period error regarding contributed assets. 

We would like to thank you and your staff for your engagement in the audit this year. 

If you have any questions about this report or would like to discuss any matters regarding our services and 

engagement, please do not hesitate to contact me or Fabiana Marques on 07 3229 5100. 

Yours sincerely 

 

 

 

Matthew Monaghan 

Partner  

cc: 

 Warren Bunker, CEO 

 Peter Sheville, Chair of the audit and risk committee 
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Appendix A1 – Status of issues 

Internal control issues 

This section provides an update on the significant control deficiencies we have identified. It includes a response 

from management.  

Our risk ratings are as follows. For more information and detail on our rating definitions, please see the 

webpage here: www.qao.qld.gov.au/information-internal-controls or scan the QR code.  

 

 
Significant Deficiency 

25CR – 1 Significant deficiency in Council’s processes for monitoring and 

recording developer contributed assets 

Observation 

Our audit of Council’s developer-contributed assets identified that assets were not recorded in the financial year in which 

Council assumed control from developers. Under applicable accounting standards, Council is required to recognise both the 

assets and associated revenue at the point it gains control. 

Due to limitations in available data at the time of asset acceptance, process inefficiencies between internal departments, 

and resource constraints, assets that Council had advised developers were accepted in the 2023 and 2024 financial years 

were only recorded in the 2025 financial year. 

This delay in recognition resulted in a material misstatement in the 2025 financial statements, which required correction.  

Implication 

There is a risk that Council’s fixed asset register does not contain a record of all of Council’s existing assets, resulting in an 

understatement of assets and revenue. This resulted in a material misstatement to the 2025 financial statements which 

required correction, as well as material misstatements to previous years, with a prior period error required to be disclosed. 

There is a risk that further misstatements will also occur. 

There is also a risk where assets not reflected in the fixed asset register could be excluded from Council’s maintenance 

plans.  

QAO recommendation 

We recommend that: 

• Council continue to focus efforts on the timely capitalisation of assets and review processes for ensuring contributed 

assets are recognised in the accounting period in which Council obtains control of the assets 

• Council reviews and updates its processes between its Asset Management, Planning, GIS and Finance teams to 

assist in the above 

• Council update its processes to enable an accrual to be raised where the assets aren’t able to be added to the asset 

register before the end of the financial year. 

 

 

Internal control issues 

Significant deficiency Deficiency Other matter 

S D O 
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Management response 

Council will endeavour to: 

1. Review risk indicators when there is significant workload and resourcing issues to ensure sufficient controls are in 

place. 

2. Improve internal register access, communication and processes between Asset Management, Planning, GIS & 

Finance teams to identify when control is transferred and data quality reviewed. This will ensure that the status and 

recognition of contributed assets is monitored and reviewed regularly 

3. Review Council’s Contributed Assets Policy 

4. Contributed assets to be included on Council’s internal EOFY Plan to review the status of recognition in advance of 

Interim and Year End milestones in External Audit plan to allow for either an accrual to be raised if required, or 

additional recognition to be processed before the end of the financial year. 

 

Responsible officer: Manager Financial Services 

Status: Work in progress 

Action date: 28 February 2026 

 Deficiency 

25CR-2 Asset disposals not recorded in the correct financial year 

Observation 

We identified from our testing five fleet assets were sold via auction in the 2024 financial year, and the proceeds were 

correctly recorded in that year. The asset register was only updated in the 2025 financial year, because the assets team 

was not informed of the disposals at the time of sale. The overall profit impact of the assets being disposed of in the wrong 

financial year was below our trivial threshold. 

Implication 

There is a risk of misstatement of the financial statements if disposals are not recorded in the correct financial year. 

QAO recommendation 

We recommend that Council review and update its processes to ensure that asset disposals, particularly those sold via 

auction, are removed from the asset register in a timely manner. 

Management response 

Management acknowledges that this is an issue that needs to be resolved. Council will review its process to ensure asset 

disposals through sale at auction are undertaken in a timely manner during the August to March period each year where 

appropriate, to allow sufficient time for physical transfer of assets and processing of disposals in Council’s Asset Register in 

a timely manner. 

Responsible officer: Manager Fleet Services & Coordinator Asset Management 

Status: Work in progress 

Action date: 31 March 2026 
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Appendix A2 – Matters previously reported 

The following table summarises all control deficiencies, financial reporting issues, and other matters that have 

previously been raised some of which may have been reported as resolved in the closing report. The listing 

includes issues from our reports this year and those issues raised in prior years.  

Our risk ratings are as follows. For more information and detail on our rating definitions, please 

see the webpage here: www.qao.qld.gov.au/information-internal-controls or scan the QR code. 

 

Ref. Rating Issue Status 

24CR – 

1 
 

No reconciliation between valuation 

reports, asset registers and 

financial statements 
 

Resolved 

Council completed this reconciliation and there were no 

matters identified for 2025. 

22CR-1 

 

Capitalisation of work in progress 

Council had $13.3million in projects in 
work in progress as at 30 June 2022 
that were marked as completed but 
not capitalised. We understand that 
delays in mapping the assets are 
generally the cause of lengthy times to 
capitalise. An unadjusted audit 
difference for the impact of 
depreciation not yet calculated on 
these projects was noted arising from 
this issue  

 

Resolved 

At 30 June 2025, this balance now sits at $2.8M in assets 

completed but not yet capitalised reflecting the improved 

focus of the organisation on capitalisation post-

completion of infrastructure assets.  

The depreciation impact is recorded in the uncorrected 

misstatements 

This was a considerable effort across functions involved 

in the capitalisation process reducing the completed WIP 

balance during the 2024/25 Financial Year. Asset 

Accounting resources are currently in place with a solid 

plan to ensure the critical role of Coordinator Asset 

Management is filled enabling timely financial 

management of Council's non-current assets 

  

Internal control issues 

Significant deficiency Deficiency Other matter High                    Medium                    Low 

Financial reporting issues 

S D O H M L 
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Appendix A3 – Climate-related financial disclosures  

Next year’s planning 
considerations 

Potential effect on your 
reporting obligations 

Potential effect on your audit 

As a non-mandatory reporting entity, 

your entity does not need to prepare 

climate-related financial disclosures in 

compliance with AASB S2 Climate-

related Disclosures and have this audited 

under the ASSA 5010 timetable.  

Queensland Treasury has communicated 

to us that it does not intend to include 

your entity within its whole-of-

government reporting framework. 

The department of local government is 

considering a sector-wide response. We 

encourage local governments to engage 

with the department prior to devoting 

time and resources to determining their 

approach to reporting. 

At this point there is no effect on your 

reporting obligations for 2026 or future 

years.  

Your entity may choose to voluntarily 

report against AASB S2. As part of 

your decision making, you should also 

consider who your report users are, 

and what their information needs are.  

We strongly encourage you to engage 

with us prior to making this decision. 

Planning to develop a valuable report 

is a significant commitment. 

We have commenced our 

engagements for clients who are 

preparing mandatory reports now.  

Our experience is that 

engagement at least 18 months 

out from the first reporting date 

allows us to develop a shared 

understanding of the roles and 

responsibilities, and assess your 

readiness for reporting. 

If you chose to prepare a voluntary 

S2 compliant report, we would 

recommend that you allow a 

similar amount of time. 
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qao.qld.gov.au/reports-resources/reports-parliament 
 
 

Suggest an audit topic 

Contribute to an audit in progress 

Subscribe to news and our blog 

Connect with QAO on LinkedIn 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
Jacques Coetzee 

Queensland Audit Office 

T: (07) 3149 6066 

E:  Jacques.Coetzee@qao.qld.gov.au 

 

 

 

Matthew Monaghan 

William Buck 

T: (07) 3229 5100 

E:  Matthew.Monaghan@williambuck.com 

 

T:   (07) 3149 6000 
E:   qao@qao.qld.gov.au 
W:  www.qao.qld.gov.au 
53 Albert Street, Brisbane Qld 4000 
PO Box 15396, City East Qld 4002 
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12.2 - Final Annual Report 2024-25 Adoption 
  

MEETING DETAILS: Ordinary Council Meeting - Wednesday 24 September 2025 
AUTHOR: Governance Administration Officer 
AUTHORISING OFFICER: Chief Executive Officer  

PURPOSE 
Council’s Annual Report provides an opportunity for Council to document and record its 
activities, achievements, and financial performance for the period in an open, transparent, 
and accountable manner.   

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
Each year, Council produces an Annual Report. This is a legal requirement under the Local 
Government Act 2009 and provides the opportunity to provide a report to the community on 
Council’s performance against the Corporate Plan and Annual Operational Plan.   

OFFICER’S RECOMMENDATION 
That Council:  

1. Adopt the 2024/25 Annual Report (Attachment 12.2.1). 
2. Authorise the Chief Executive Officer to make any minor and/or cosmetic changes to 

the Annual Report as required.  

BACKGROUND 
The 2024/25 Annual Report of the Whitsunday Regional Council details our performance in 
meeting the strategic priorities outlined in our Corporate Plan and provides a summary of 
key achievements and an analysis of our financial performance, including the audited annual 
financial statements.  
 
The document demonstrates our commitment to supporting our region with infrastructure, 
services, and ensuring an active and engaged community. Council also continues to provide 
essential services and programs to the community. The 2024/25 Annual Report also details 
our successes and challenges faced over the year whilst ensuring we remain open and 
accountable to our stakeholders. 

DISCUSSION/CURRENT ISSUE 
The 2024/25 Annual Report outlines the achievements made against the Corporate and 
Operational Plans for the last 12 months as well as addressing several statutory 
requirements for disclosure in the interests of transparency and accountability. 
 
The 2024/25 Annual Report also includes the Annual Financial Statements for the year to 30 
June 2025, and reports on the overall performance of Council for the year. 
 
The format for the 2024/25 Annual Report has been streamlined to improve readability and 
to more simply present the information to demonstrate Council’s achievements for the year. 
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FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
The activities reported in the 2024/25 Annual Report were resourced through the 2024/2025 
budget. The 2024/25 Annual Financial Statements form part of the Annual Report, along with 
a plain language Community Financial Report. 

CONSULTATION/ENGAGEMENT 
Acting Director Capital Program & Network Planning 
Acting Director Corporate Services  
Director Community Services and Facilitation  
Director Infrastructure Services 
Director Regional Strategy and Planning  
Director Commercial Businesses  
Strategic Leadership Team 

STATUTORY/COMPLIANCE MATTERS 
The Local Government Act 2009 (the Act) and Local Government Regulation 2012 apply. 
Section 182 Preparation of annual report of the Act provides: 

(1)  A local government must prepare an annual report for each financial year. 
(2)  The local government must adopt its annual report within 1 month after the day the 

auditor-general gives the auditor-general’s audit report about the local government’s 
financial statements for the financial year to the local government. 

(3)  However, the Minister may, by notice to the local government, extend the time by 
which the annual report must be adopted. 

(4)  The local government must publish its annual report on its website within 2 weeks of 
adopting the annual report. 

RISK ASSESSMENT/DEADLINES 
There are no set penalties associated with non-compliance; however, this will present a 
reputational issue for Council as this will be noted as non-compliance in the next audit. 
 
The Annual Report must be adopted with 1 month of the signoff date on the Auditor General. 

STRATEGIC IMPACTS 
Corporate Plan Reference:  
Support the future planning and sustainability of regional key industries.  
 
Ensuring appropriate community engagement to guide Council’s decision making and 
project priorities. 
 
Undertake a business transformation project to support organisational growth, prioritise and 
streamline service delivery and deliver improved value to the community. 

ATTACHMENTS 
1. Annual Report - 2024-25 - Final [12.2.1 - 117 pages] 
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ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 
OF COUNTRY

Whitsunday Regional Council acknowledge the traditional
owners and custodians of the lands where we live and work.

We pay respect to Elders past and present, and we
recognise their continuing connection to country and the
important role Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples
play within the Whitsunday Region.

Image: Smoking Ceremony, Shutterstock 
Cover - Grays Bay, Bowen | Tourism & Events Queensland
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It reflects on the progress we’ve 
made toward delivering the vision, 
mission and strategic priorities set 
out in our 2021 -2026 Corporate 
Plan. 

The Annual Report forms part of 
Council’s integrated planning and 
reporting framework, which links 
our long-term goals to our annual 
budget, capital works program, 
and operational plan - ensuring our 
services and investments align with 
the community’s expectations. 

The report highlights our key 
initiatives, achievements and service 
delivery over the past financial year, 
demonstrating how we’re working 
towards a resilient, sustainable and 
thriving Whitsunday region. 

This report serves both as a record 
of what we’ve achieved and a 
demonstration of our accountability 
to the community as we continue 
shaping the future of the 
Whitsundays. 

This Annual Report provides a comprehensive summary of Whitsunday 
Regional Council’s performance and activities for the period 1 July 2024 
to 30 June 2025. 
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